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This election petition arises out of the general elections
held on February 29, 1972 for the clection and return of members
to the House of Representatives. Therpetitioner and the respondent
were the candidates at the clections for the constituency of Southern
Manchester. The final count of votes by the returning officer
for that constituency took place on March 1 and 2 at the Cross Keys
court house, when the respondent was declared duly clected by 2
majority of 115 votes. in application was made for a recount of
the votes by the Resident Magistrate for MQQCheSter. This was done
at the Mandeville court house on March 10 and 11, when the respondent
was delcared to have obtained a majority of 9l votcs over the petitioner.
On March 23, 1972 this petition was filed, in which the
petitioner prays that it may be determined that the rcespondent
was not duly elected or returned and that he, the petitioner, was
duly elected and ought to have been returned as the member for the
gonstitueney, In the alternative, he prays that thc dection of
the respondent be declarecd wholly null and voide The ground on
which the petitioner claims to have been duly elected is that 21k .
ballots, as detailed in paragraph 8 of the petition,‘which were
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rejected by the réfurning officer at the final count of votes,

were prOpef ballots for the petitioner when cast and when counted

_ by the presidiﬁg officers at the preliminary count of votes but
thereafter and by the time of the final count of votes they were
tampered with by a person or persons unknown to the petitioner and
were thus 'deliberately and fraudulently spoilt™. The petitioner
claims in paragraph 9 of the petition, that the 214 ballots "were
wrongly rejected by the returning officer and ought properly to have
been accepted by him as good and valid votes cast for (the) petitioner
thereby allowing (the) petitioner 120 votes over his oppoment (the
respondent).”" In particulars supplied by the petitioner at the
request of the respondent it is alleged that the ballots 'were
tampered with by the placing of marks in pencil résembling the marks
for a proper vote clsewhere on the ballot thuws making it to appear
that the elector had voted for cach eamdidate and the vote thereby
becoming a double vote."

The petition does not complain of the conduct of the
respondent. In his opening speech for the petitioner Mr. Phipps said
that the petitioner makes no allegation against the respondent
himself and that the cour{y will ﬁot be asked to make any pronouncement
on his conductf The petitioner did not receive similar treatment
from the reé&pondent and the returning officer. During the trial fthey
made sesious allegations against his character and his conduct before,
at 2nd after the elections. I am, however, not required to decide
who is the more worthy or suitable of the two, the petitioner and the
respondent, to represent the constituency. ‘Both were nominated as
candidates and the simple issue for pe to decide is whether the will
of the majéfity of the electorate in the constituex2§2g§;e€hat the
petitioner and not the respondent should be the representative for
the constituency. If I am unablszyo decide I am asked nevertheless
to declare that the election of the respondent was void.

There were 91 polling stations in the constituency. The
allegations made by the petitioner involved 28 of them. The method
adopted by the petitioner in proof of his case was to call the
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presiding officer and/om poll clerk and/or the agent for the
petitioner from each of the 38 polling stations to say what
occurred at the station on election day. In particular they were
asked about the condition of the ballot papers, if any, which were
rejected at the preliminary count of votes at the stations and
whether the ballot papers which it is alleged were tampered with
were at the preliminary count in the samg¢ condition as they were at

the trial. ZElection documents, where available, were put in evidence

in support of thé oral testimony.

The respondent, no doubt because of the lack of any
allegation against him personally, contented himself with testing the
credit of the witnesses called by the petitioner, endeavouring. to
show bias in most, if not all, of them and incompetence in the
election officers in the performance of their duties. As I have
already said, he also attacked the conduct and character of the
petitioner. The respondent gave evidence himself but this was mainly
to refute allegations made by witnesses for the petitioner in relation
to occurrences on election night and during the final count of votes.

Apart from the attack which was made by the returning
officer against the petitioner during his evidence, his case was to
give an account of his actions during and after the elections and the
steps which were taken for the security of the Ballot boxes after they
were delivered4 into his custody.

One of the allegations made against the petitioner was
that he influenced, and interfered with, the appointment of election
officers. There is abundant uncontradicted evidence that he did.
Letters written by him to the returning officer recommending the
appointment of named persons were put in evidence. In a letter dated
January 10, 1972 (part of exhibit 7) the petitioner recommended the
appointment of a number of persons to particular polling stations.
This in spite of the fact that other persons had already been

appointed to those stations. The returning officer replaced some
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of those already appointed with pefsons recommended by the
petitioner. This he did, he said, as a personal favour to the
petitioner. This is, of course, not surprising because the
returning officer admitted owing his own appointment to the petitioner.
He however, complained to the Chief Electoral Officer by letter

dated February 23, 1972, that the petitioner tried to upset appoint-
ments made by him by objecting to most officers that had been
trained and recommending untrained persons. He and the petitioner
are school teachers, were in college together and since then for
over thirty years, according to his evidence, they had been very
close friends. That friendship has now obviously turned sour. The
returning officer admitted that while holding office as returning
officer he actively asmisted the petitioner in his election campaign
leading up to the 1972 general elections. 1In particular he was
treasurer of a fund established in the constituency for the promotion
of the petitioner's campaign and assisted in the work of é finance
committeec for the same purpose. He made payments from the fund from
time to time on the petitioner's instructions to persons who worked
in his campaign. He admitted appointing at least two of these persons
as election officers. Complaint was made to the returning officer
by the respondent that a number of persons appointed as election
officers were active supporters of the petitioner. The returning
officer said that after investigation he revoked the appointment of
three of them, Messrs. Walter Cockett, Roy Reid and Mrs. Allison, 9n
the ground that they were unfit for the positions they held,
presumably because of their involvement in the petitioner's campaign.

Many of the election officers who gave evidence before me

were of poor quality and, in my opinion, should never have been
appointed. I had the distinct impression that the petitioner was
responsible for these persons being appointed. The result of these
appointments was that many of the election documents were either not

written up at all or were incomplete or improperly prepared.
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The returning officer said that 4% was his experience that in
elections all candidates recommend people to be employed as 
election officers. I have no doubt that this is so but, for
obvious reasons, I am of opinion that this practice should cease.
Election officers are public officers under the Constitution and
the safeguards written into the Constitution against political
influence of the appointment of public officers apply to their
appointment as to that of any other public officer.

In spite of the denial by Walter Cockett, I believe the
evidence of the returning officer that two or three days before the
election he went to the petitioner's house, the result of a report
he received, and found there two ballot boxes which had been issued
to Mr. Cockett and to Mrs. Gwen Bowen, a presiding officer. He said
he ordered them to remove the boxes from petitioner's premises. I
am also satisfied that attempts were made by the petitioner, and on
his behalf, to obtain blank ballot papers on election day, obviously
for them to be put to some improper use. A letter written by the
petitioner was produced (exhibit 8) in which he asked that additional
ballot papers be supplied to presiding officer Mrs. Gwen Bowen, who
already had an adequate supply of ballot papers. A letter was also
produced (exhibit E-3OBF), written on election day by Phyllis
Griffiths, poll clerk at polling station No.30B, on the instructions
of her presiding officer Louise Bagaloo, in which Miss Bagaloo asked
to be sent 100 ballot papers as she was short of ballots. I believe
that these ballot papers were supplied and that the returning
officer went and retrieved them from Miss Bagaloo on election day,
as he said, as she was not in need of them at the station. Miss
Bagaloo was one of the persons about whom the respondent complained
to the returning officer that they had been appointed election
officers and he had information that they were active supporters
of the petitioner. There is also the evidence given by two of the
petitioner's witnesses, Wilburn Myers and Itsman Campbell, that
Roy Reid went to polling station No.44 and asked to be given unused
ballot papers to take to a polling station at Pratville which, he said,
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was short of ballot papers. The presiding officer, Mr. Myers,
refused to give them to him without a note from the returning
officer. There can be no doubt that Roy Reid was one of the
petitioner's supporters,

Finally, there are the improper suggcstions which the
returning officer swore that the petitioner made to him at his
(the returning officer's) home on the night of March 2, the da§ the
final count was completed and the respondent was declared the
successful candidate. The evidence given is that the petitioner,
accompanied by Roy Reid, went to the returning officer's home at
7 otclock at night and made two suggestions to him. The first was
that the returning officer should say,falsely, that the respondent
took cases of rum to the court house at Cross Keys, that the people
got drunk, there was a riot and he (the returning officer) had to
escape from the table, during which time the people seized the ballots
and marked them up. The returning officer said that he told the
petitioner that he could not do as he asked as there was a crowd
at the court house and the police were there. The returning officer's
evidence continued that the petitioner then said that he (petitioner)
was still depending on the returning officer to help him regain his
seat so, and this is the second suggestion, the rcturning officer
should go with petitioner to Cross Keys , since the former was the
only person with authority to go where the ballot boxes were, and
that the returning officer should remove even two of the boxes and
that would nullify the election. The returning officer said he did
not agree with this suggestion. He told the petitioner that both
were stupid suggestions. When the petitioner left, he said, he
telephoned the Chief Electoral Officer telling him the suggestions
which were made to him as well as to Deputy Superintendent of Police
Mr. Arthur Williams, with whom he spoke about the security of the
boxes in view of the second suggestion made to him by the petitioner.

The Chief Electoral Officer gave evidence for the petitioner but was
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LZZZﬁfujzé@{?fwd
not cross-examined about the telephone conversation the T '

said he had with him. Deputy Superintendent Williams, who was

called for the returning officer, however confirmed his evidence

that he was called on the night of March 2 and as a result took action
in relation to the security of the boxes. The returning officér's
evidence was, of course, given after the petitioner's case had been
elosed so this part of his evidenece renmains uncontradicted. He was
cross-examined at some length in relation to it to suggest that he

was not speaking the truth but I believe the returning officer that
the petitioner visited him as he said and made the suggestions.

The allegations made against the conduct of the petitioner
though affecting his character have not been shown to affect ths
central issue in this case, namely, whether validly. . cast ballots
for the petitioner were subsequently tampered with., It was not
suggested that the petitioner may himself have been responsible for
any tampering with the ballots that took place because of the nature
of the first suggestion he made to the returning officer on the night
of March 2. Such a suggestion could hardly have been made in view
of the amount by which the ballots claimed to have been tampered
with exceeds the respondent's majority. Nor, on the whole, has the
proved incompetence of some of the election officers who gave
evidence affected the central issue. Such bias in the petitioner's
witnesses as was established went only to credit and will be taken into
account when the evidence relating to each polling station is being
examined hereafter.

As statedabove, the allegation in the particulars supplied
by the petitioner is that the ballots werc tampered with by a person
or persons unknown. JThere is no obligation on him to identify the
person or persons who tampered with them if he can show by circum-
stantial evidence that they were in fact tampered with. The
petitioner, however, introduced evidence which could only have been

adduced for the purpose of attempting to identify the person who might

«sos/have



-8=

have tampered with the ballots. There was the unknown young man

whom Walter Cockettspoke of in his evidence. Mr. Cockett said that

on the petitioner'é instructions he attended the final count of votes

" at Cross Keys on March 1. Roy Reid and Eric Mitchell were with hinm.
They arrived at about 11:30 a.nm. and he was offered a seat around the
table where the votes were being counted. He sat beside a Mr. Barrett,
one of the respondent's supporters, but left after 20 to 30 minutes

as he was threatened by Mr. Barrett, who searched him. He left and
made a a report to Deputy Superintendent Williams and Corporal Henrye.
He said that while he waé at the table he saw rejected ballots being
passed to the persons around the table including the returning officer's
wife and a young man. This young man had a lead pencil and when

the ballots were bcing passed back to the returning officer and reached
the young man he, the witness, could not see them. I am being asked,

I suppose, to infer from this that this young man either tampered with
the ballots or had the opportunity of doing so. Even if I were
satisfied that the young man was there, and I am not, T doubt that
anyone would be brazenenough to tamper with the ballots openly in a
room in which, according to Mr. Cockett, therc werec 150 to 200 people.
There is no evidence that the young man was present on the second day
of the final count so someone else would have had to do the tampering
on that daye.

The only other pefson who it was sought to identify as having
tanpered with the ballots was the returning officer himself. Indeed,
it was put directly to him in cross~examination that he had done s0.
He, of course, denied that suggestion and there is not sufficient
evidence to justify sucszinding, There were, however, a number of
suspicioms circumstances affecting the returning officer which
emerged during the trial and these no doubt emboldened the petitioner's
attorney to make the damaging suggestion.

There werc the events of clection night when the
returning officer was announcing the results of the preliminary count
of votes at the Cross Keys court house. It is common ground that at
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one stagé, with two boxes to come, he nade an announcenent that the
petitioner was lcading by 92 votes. Since it turned out that by
a strange coincidence the two outstanding boxes each had equal votes
for each candidate, this would raise a huge question mark over the
najority by which the respondent was declared winner at the final
count. This is so because the announcements werec being made from the
preliminary statements of the poll preparcd by the presiding officers
and unless it could be shown that several of thesc officeré were
thoroughly dishonest and deliberately counted ballots for the petitioner
which should have been rejected, the respondent could hardly have
received the majority he did at the final count. This in fact is one
of the amguments put forward on behalf of the petitioner. The
respondent and the returning officer, however, gave evidencc that
subsequent to the announcement about the majority of 92 votes by
which the petitioner was leading an error in the recording of the
votes as announced was brought to the returning officer's attention
which reversed the standing of the candidates. The returning officers
said that an agent of the respondent's party, Ruby Reid, pointed out
an error in respcct of the result from polling station No.12. It was
said that it was Pecorded that 102 votes were counted at that
station for the petitioner and 31 for the respondent whercas the
figures should havc been reversed. The returning officer could not
explain how this error canme about, though he secms to think it was
because the petitioner's name was written first on the statement of
poll instead of alphabetically as he had instructed.

There are three matters which cast doubt on the veracity
of the evidence relating to this error which it is said was discovered.
The first is that neither the respondent nor the returning officer
was able to say by what majority the respondent led the petitioner
after the error was discovered and the correction made. This figure
would have been the final figure of the majority of votes in the
preliminary count of votes in view of the equality of votcs in the
two missing boxes, yet no one has given evidence of it and no record

was produced to show what it was. The respondent said the correction
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would put him ahead by about 50 votes if his memory served him right
but later he admitted that it was quite possible that the error could
no?Z;ZEieved the result of a majority of 50 votes., He said he did
not make the computation himself, he was told the result was 50 votes
by the returning officer and it nay be that the computation that was
made was inaccurate. On his part, the returning officer 4id not know
what the majority was and though he said he made a2 corrccting announce-
nent he did not mention any figure in that announcement. This in the
face of evidence previously given by him that he and his clerk nade
announcerients from time to time that night which candidate was
leading at a particular time as the ballot boxes cane in and by how
nany votes. This is how the announcement of the majority of 92 in
favour of the petitioner came to be wade when there were two boxes to
cone. He was unaware of the majority after the correction in spite of
the fact that he had assigned three persons, includirg the election
clerk, thc duty of recording the result of the preliminary count on
tally sheets which, he said,_would show what the final figures were
when he ceased the count with two boxes to come. He said he heard
figures of 50 and of 71 being mentioned as thé respondentts najority
but he never tried to ascertain the cofrect figure though it was,
apparently, available from the tally sheets. This evidence is to be
contrasted with that of the rcspondent, who said the figure 50 was

to him
told/by the returning officer.

The second matter which cast doubt on this aspect of the
evidence is the correcting announcement which it is said was made. Tt
is clear that the announcements wmade from time to time of the state
of the count was for all the persons in the court room, at least, to
hear. Carlten Lewis and George Higgins, who gave evidence for the
petitioner, said they were present and that up to the tinme when they
left the court room at about 1 o'clock during election night the
last announcement made was that the petitioner was leading by 92 votes
with two boxes to come. The returning officer said he made that

announcenent but that when the error was discovered and corrected he
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announced that the respondent was in the lead, without stating the
majority. He, however, said in cross-examination that the last
official announcerment made on election night was that the petitioner
was leading by 92 votes. Later he said that thc correcting announce-
ment was, to him, an official announcenent and that in making it he
stood up in the court room and made it in the same manner as he had
made therother official announcenments. One would naturally expect
the correcting announcenent to be made for all to hear if it was
intended to correct the previous official announcement made in that
waye. The respondent in his evidence, howevér, does not support the
returning officer's account of how the correcting announcenent was
made. He said he heard a statement made by the returning officer or
his clerk after the complaint of the error was made "but it was not a
fornmal statement - it was sinply stated that the position was 'so and
so'without getting up from the table or anything', He said that
"having given the position after 89 boxes, after the correction was nade
there was no formal announcement. He (the returning officer) was just
speaking to us around the table saying the position was 'so and so' ',
The respondent said further that he was not aware of any public announce-
ment that an error had been discovered. The court room was packed at
the time, he said, and others who were not around the table night
have heard. 1In the light of this evidence one can readily believe
Messrs Lewis and Higgiﬁs that they heard nc announcement after the one
giving the petitioner the 92 majority and anyonc could be forgiven for
asking why, if an error was in fact discovered, wos not a public
announceiment made for all in the court room, and consequently, all
Jamaica, to hear and know.

But thc matter does not end there. There is the behaviour
of the returning officer in relation to the missing boxes when they
turned up at the police station at Cross Keys. He said that he closed
down the preliminary count shortly after midnight as the two outstanding
boxes had not yet arrived. This was said in examination-in-chief.
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When he was cross-examined by Dr. Barnett, for the respondent, he
said that he was upstairs(in the court house) when the two boxes
arrived; he said that people (upstairs) rushed downstairs on their
arrival and he thinks he also rushed downstairs. He said that when
he went downstairs he saw by what means the missing boxes arrived. One
was brought by the presiding officer (Owen Willianson) of the polling
station at which that box was used. To Mr. Phipps, for the petitioner,
he said that when he left upstairs on election night anybody could have
won. He admitted being a little curious to know how the outstanding
boxes would affect the situation, but he said he did not look to see
what was the vote on the two boxes as he was suspicious of then and
handed them to the police tc be kept until next morning, In the very
next answer, however, he said he concluded that the boxes were in order
before they were handed to the police. Next morning he received then
in the same condition as he had left them with the police and placed
therm with the other boxes upstairs for the final count.‘ When he received
them in the morning he saw that they were from polling stations Nos.
5kA and 54C and contained 16 and 12 votes respectively for each
candidate. He said that before he left the court house prenises for homne
on election night he could have had all the available information if he
wanted to enable him to make an announcenent of the final results of the
preliminary count but did not use it. The figures of the prelininary
count of votes were taken from the preliminary statements of prldwhich
were required to be pasted or affixed to the outside of tle ballot boxes.
In the light of the custom for the results of the preliminary count of
votes to be given for each constituency as soon as all the baliot boxes
are in, it is more than passing strange that thié returning officer had
all the available information but chose to keep the hundreds of persons
who he said were present and the rest of the Country in suspense. The
suggestion is that he had some sinister reason for not wishing to give
the result at that stage. The final result of the preliminary count was,
in fact, never given.

The third,and perhaps the most compelling,matter which cast
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Joubt on the veracity of the evidence that an error was discovered

in the counting of the votes on election night which gave the respondent
the lead is this: As I have said, the votes were being counted then

from the statements of poll prepared by the presiding officerse. Both

the respondent and the returning officer adnitted that a large quantity
of ballots with double votes, which were eventually rejected, cone

from the envelopes with the petitioner's ballots. The returning

officer said they numbered over 200. This neans that they were
originally counted for the petitioner by the presiding officers, whether
they then had double votes or not. At the final count the respondent's
majority was 115, It is the double votes which camne from the petitioner's
envelopes and were rejected which enabled the respondent to obtain this
najority. In his evidence the returning officer said: "At final count
I took a lot of double votes fron Willians' enveloﬁes and I rejected
LNClecoaossssacsseassas AS result of this Williams' votes went down
from position at the prelininary count. I found over 200 double votcsa
Those taken fron Wwilliams' envelopes were well over 200." If the
petitioner's votes at the prelininary count were reduced by over 200
the respondent could not in the circumstances have had a majority at
the prelininary count on election night.

I have already said that no record was produced, or
apparently exists, from which accurate figures for the prelininary
count as it was compiled on the night of election day can be "sceilo il
None was produced either for the final count. Although the returning
officer gave evidence that at the end of the final count the rcspondent
led by 115 votes, no record was produced to substantiate it. He said
that a return showing the result of his final count station by station
was prepared and sent to the office of the Chief Blectoral Officcr.
This return was the recapitulation sheet which he was required by law
to prepare. He an+A h~ »e-oarcd two such sheets on the day after the
final count was concluded. None was produced at the trial. The Chief
Flectoral Officer said that he received no document to show the result
of the returning officer's final count as distinct fron the maglsterial
recount. The recapitulation sheet which the returning officer said
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he prepared showing the result of the recount by the Resident
Magistrate was produced in evidence (exhibit 3) from the custody of
the Chief Electoral Officer. During the trial, where any information
was required about the result of the final count fér any polling
station this had to be ascertained by deduction from the recapitulation
sheet (exhibit 3) or from the figures on the envelopes containing the
ballots. I do not believe that any recapitulation sheet was prepared
in respect of the final count. I formed the clear impression that the
sheet (exhibit 3) in respect of the magisterial recount was the only
one prepared. The absence of records showing the results of the
preliminary and final counts was suggested as another suspicious
circumstance.

The final suspicious circumstance affecting the returning
officer was a vist which he paid on March 6 to the Porus court house
where the ballot boxes were then stored. He had had the boxes removed
from Cross Keys to Porus on March 5 for better protection and security,
he said, in view of the suggestions the petitioner had made to him and
the fact that he was told that the additional security provided by the
police at Cross Keys was being withdrawn. He did not however discﬁss
the question of why he was removing the boxes with the police. The
ballot boxes were stored in the judge's chambers upstairs the Porus
court house and he kept the keys. The situation at the Porus court
house was the same as at Cross Keys with the court room and chambers
upstairs and the police station downstairs. Whereas at Cross Keys the
keys to the room in which thé boxes were stored upstairs werc given by
the returning officer to the sub-officer in charge of the police station
after the final count,when they were removed to Porus he kepf the keys.
He said he cannot give a definite explanation for this. The returning
officer's wife, is, he said, the postmaster in charge of the Porus
post office, which is situate ~m premises adjoining the court housea
He occupied a room on the post office premises as his official
constituency office. The returning officer's wifegthough, as her
husband said, she had no official election duties, appears to have had

a special interest in the outcome of the election. She was present
eese/during
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during the preliminary count at the Cross Keys court house on election

night. Carlton Lewis' evidence that she was there scated around the
table keeping a tally of the votes was not challenged. The respondent
said she was present during the final count, but he is not positive

that she was keepingscore of the final count. Walter Cockett, however,
said she was present on the first day of the final count and she was
anong the persons around the table in the court room to whom ballots were
passeds There was evidence given that she was present in the court roon
from time to time during this trial.

Police corporal Flavius Alphonso Henry who was stationed 2%
the Porus police station in March, 1972, was called as a witness for the
petitioner. He said that on the night of March 5 hec was the sub-officer
in charge of guard duties at the police station and was responsible for
providing protection for the ballot boxes stored upstairs in the Judge's
chambers, He went off duty at & o'clack on the morning of March 6. He
said that at about 6:30 a.m. he heard footsteps upstairs in the hall of
the court. He went upstairs to the hall and saw ¥%he returning officer
and his wife inside the room wherc the ballot boxes were stored. A door
to the room which was locked the night before was now open and it was
through this door that he saw them., Both were standing at a table in the
room and there was a box on the table. The witness was not able to say
what kind of box and what they were doing with it. He did not speak to
then nor they to him. It does not appear from the evidence he gave that
they were aware of his presence. He remained upstairs for about three
minutes and then went downstairs to the police station leaving them
upstairs and made "the appropriate entry" in the police station diary.
This diary was present in court at the time when this witness gave his
evidence and he refreshed his menory from it. The entry, he said, was
made in tﬂe diary at 6:32 a.m. It was suggested to corporal Henry in
cross—examination, by Mr. Davis for the¢ returning officer, that he did
not see the returning officer and his wife in the judge's chambers as he
said. The witness insisted that he saw them. In the light of this
suggestion I assuned that the corporal's allegations werc being completcely

denied, but the returning officer admitted when he gave evidence that
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he had goné to the room on the oecasion but that his wife was not with
hinm. He had driven down with her from thcir home in Mandeville, had
driven to the post office adjoining, left his Qife and his car there
and went alone upstairs the court house into the room with the boxes
at about 6:30 a.m. He went, he said, "to check on them’'; he counted
them, found them all there and then left. He said he did not sce
corporal Henry that morning. He called district constable John Kelly,
who was on station guard duty at the poliee station at the time, to
support his evidence that his wifc was not with hin., The district
constable said he saw the peturning officer and his wife drive to the
post office premises. He was in thc guard room at about 6:30 a.n.
when he heard footsteps upstairs the court room. He went upstairs and
saw the returning officer, who was alone,pushing open the door to the
judge's chambers and entering. He saw him start to move around the
nelection boxes and pointing at them. The returning officer told him
upstairs that he was going out and he was only lcoking to sce if the
boxes were all right. The witness said that the returning officer
remained upstairs for three or four minutes from the time he (witness)
went up and saw him until he (the returning officer) went back down.
The district constable said that when the returning officer arrived
that morning and when he was upstairs corporal Henry was not on the
station compound. He had seen the corporal leave the compound earlier
and he returned ahout ten minutes after the returning officer had left.
He told corporal Henry, he said, about the returning officer's visit
but he did not see the corporal make an entry in th. diary.

There were discrepancies between the evidence given by the
returning officer and that by the district constable. The most serious
is in the evidence of the returning officer that he saw the district
constable outside downstairs before he Qent upstairs, told him that he
was going upstairs to check the boxes and the district constable followed
hinm upstairs. The district constable said he did not sce the returning
officer when the latter was going upstairs and was nct spoken to as
the returning officer said, He was iﬁ the guard room when he heard
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footsteps on the staircase and upstairs in the court room and it was
not until he went upstairs that he knew the returning officer was up
there. On balance I preferred the evidence of corporal Henry to that
of the returning officer and the district constable. I believed his
evidence that the wife of the returning officer was upstairs with hin
in the room with the ballot boxes. No reason was suggested why the
corporal should fabricate this evidence so scon after the visit which
the returning officer admittedly paid. A4s I have already said, the
station diary in which he recorded the fact of the visit was in court
and was examined by the attorneys for the respondent and the returning
officer. There was no suggestion put to him that thc entry was made at
any time other than that stated by the corporal, that is, at 6:32 a.n.,
two minutes after the time he said that he saw the couple upstairs. If
he did not see thenm hinself hé could only have nade the entry fron
information given %in by ¢the district constable, If that was the source
of his information why should he have included thc wife?

It seemed a bit strange that the returning officer should
want to check the boxes so soon. They had been removed to Porus only
the previous day for better police protection. He had counted them then and
found 91 boxes. He hang:;e tb Cross Keys to check on them between the
end of the final count, when he said the petitioner made the improper
suggestions to him, and the time of their renmoval to Porus. He said
when he went on the morning of March 6 he had only gone to count the
boxes to see that they werec all there, not to see if they werc interfemg
with as he had no such suspicion. His explanation for going to count
them then was that he was still responsible for them and he was going
off to Hanover for two or three days to see his sick nmother. Not a
convincing explanation, especially when one rememboers his reason for
renoving the boxes from Cross Keyse On the face of it, there would have
been nothing really wrong or suspicious in the returning officer going to
check on th¢ boxes, if that was his sole purpose, even if this was
superfluous. Nor would the mere presence of his wifec make any difference.
After all she was his wife and worked ncxt door. The final count was

already concluded and, as will be seen later, thc ballots with the double
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votes had already appeared., Corporal Henry had not said he Saw then
with an open ballot box on the table - his evidence did not go that
far. In these‘circumstances, if his visit was a purely innocent one,
why deny that his wife was there? This is what nakes the incident
suspicious. |

There is no evidence to support a finding that any ballots
cast for the petitioner were tanpered with while the final count of the
ballots was actually taking placc, as the petiticner tried to prove.
Apart from the respondent and the returning officer, thcere was cvidence
from Lennox Martin, present on the first day of thc final count, and
the Rev. James Murray, present on the second day, that there were ballots
with double votes on them when the envelopes were opeﬁed by the returning
officer during the count. It is admitted by all thesc witnesses that
ballots from the envelopes werce passed from hand to hand of the persons
scated at the table where the votes were being counted but I am bound to
accept their evidence that only those ballots to which objectién were
taken or which were of doubtful validity were passed around as there is
no evidence to the contrary. As I said before, it would take a very
bold and brazen person to tamper with the bnllots so openly in the
wholesale manner suggested. If the ballots were tamperéd wvith as alleged
this must have taken place some time between the preliminary count by
the presiding officers and the opening of the respective envelopes at
the final count.

I also do not accept the picture Mr. Cockett sought to paint
of the scene in the room where the final count was being conducted
while he was there on the first day. He described it as noisy with
people in the crowd drinking from runm bottles. He also gave the
inpression that the supporters of the respondent were in charge of the
proceedings and that there was hostility towards hinself and the two
others who went to represent the petitioner's interests, which caused
them to leave. While I have no doubt that the respondent's supporters
dominated the scene (they were obviously superior in numbers) and

that sone members of the crowd may have been drinking rum from bottles
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(typical of many Jamaicans on a festive oeeasjon), ¥ prefer the
evidence of deputy superintendent Williams that the behaviour of the
people was orderly, with some people happy and some sad, on both days
and that of the Rev. Mr. Murray that while he was there on the second
day 'the atmosphere was relatively calm until the end there was
jubilation and excitement at the announcement.’

In order to claim the ballots allegedly tampered with as
valid votes cast for him, the petitioner had to prove beyond a recason-
able doubt that they were originally so cast and counted for him, This
he sought tc do mainly by inference. Witnesses present at. the
preliminary count at the polling stations were called ¥o give evidence
of the total ballots rejected. EFleetiom documents were put in where
available to suppapt the oral evidence. These figures were compared
with the totals arrived at by physical count of the ballots from the
several envelopes prodyeed from the tustody of the Chigf Floctforal
Officer. These latter fipgures represented the votes and rejected ballots
after the magisterial recount. Conparison of the respective figures
generally showed reductions in the total votes awarded the petitioner
at the prelimingry count at the polling stations with corresponding
inereases in the number of rejected ballots. This apart from any
inference to be drawn from the marks on the ballots thenselves.s That
the ballots with double or multiple votes came from among the ballots
counted for the petitioner at the polling stations is not really in
dispute. The respondent admits that at the final count the majority
of them were from the petitioner's envelopes and the returning officer,
as already stated, admitted that he rejected over 200 of them from
ballots in petitioner's envelopes. He said he régarded.the finding of
most of these ballots in the envelopes with the petitioner's votes as
a most serious irregularity, which he reported to the Chief Tlectoral
OPficer.

Proof of the allegation that the ballots were tampered with
was provided in the dlrect evidence of witnesses that there were no
ballots with marks for both candidates which were not rejected at the
polling stations. It was submitteq that evidence of tampering was also
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provided by inferences to be drawn from the marks on the ballots
themselves and from the fact that not one ballot with a mark of
doubtful validity was found among votes counted for the respondent.

As I have said, the returning officer sought to rebut the
allegation of tampering by proof that adequate provisions were made
for the sacurity of the ballot boxes after they were rcceived by him
and that no unauthorised person gained access to them between that
time and the opening of the boxes at the final count. On his part
the respondent sought to show that the incidence of illiteracy in
the constituency may have been partly responsible for the admittedly
high percentage of rejected ballots, which included the quéstioned
ballots. It was also suggested that instructions given to the
electorate by the petitioner may have accounted for the dcuble
votes.

The combined effect of the cases and ccntentions put forward
by the respondent and the returning officer is that the questioned
ballots were,at the preliminary count, in the condition in which they
appeared at the trial but were wrongly counted for the petitiosner by
the election officers either because they were biased, incompetent
or plainly dishonest. It was not contended that the questicned ballots
 were originally good votes for the respondent but were tampered with
by those election officers in order to enable them to be counted as
good votes for the petitioner. Nor could it be suggested that though
they were good votes for the petitioner the election officers tampered
with them and nevertheless counted them for him, So the contention
can only be that the electors.smarked the ballot papers as they
appeared at the trial but they were wrongly counted for the petitioner.
I will now examine the implications of this contentione

The 38 polling stations from which the questioned ballots
came were said by the returning officer to be scattercd throughout
the constituency. They were not confined to any one area. All the
election officers from the polling stations who gave evidence said
that had they seen ballots with double votes like thecse shown them
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at the trial they would have rejected them. Even if it could be said
that some of the presiding officers were so ignorant and dishonest that
they believed that some purpose favourable to the petitioner would
be served by deliberately counting invalid votes for him, there were
several who were, clearly, neither ignorant nor dishonest who would have
realised the futility of such a course. BEqually, if there were sone
who, again because of ignorance or incompetence, honestly believed that
the crosses in the space for the respondent were intended to 'icross out!
the name of the respondent and so did not invalidate the vote for the
petitioner, there werec as many who were intelligent enough to realise
that this could not be so. But what gives the quietus to the contention
that the presiding officers saw the double votes and wrongly counted them
for the petitioner is the fact that there was an agent for the respondent
at each of the polling stations from which the questioned ballots came and
not one was called to prove that the ballots were in the same condi*ion at
a
the prelinminary eount at the polling stationqiat the triale, TIf the
condition of the ballots escaped the notice of some it could not have
escaped all. Unless they were all as igncrant as the presiding officers
would have had to be or secrelly favoured the petiticner, surely they
would have objected to those ballots being counted for the petitioner.
And if the presiding officers persisted in so counting them would there
not have been an outery in view of the large numbers and wide area
involved and would this not have rcached the respondent's ears? Yet
there was no evidence of any such objection by any of the respondent's
agents and the returning officer said he received no complaint from anyone
that votes were awarded to any candidate which should have been rejected.
Far from thereAbeing any such evidence from the respondent's agents, there
was indirect evidence from some of them which confirmed the evidence
given by some of the witnesses at the trial.on the state of the count at
the polling stations. At the elections a form called a "certificate of the
preliminary count of the poll!" was introduced for the first time. It was
not a statutory form. It did what its name implies, The election
officers were required to fill in the amount of votes found for eaéh
candidate at the preliminary count at the polling station as well as the
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numbew of ballots rejeoted. The form was in guadeuplicate and was
'requiréd.to be signed by the presiding officer, the poll clerk and the
agents for the candidates. Each of those persons was required to keep
a copy of the completed form. Several of these forms with signatures
said to be those of the respondent's agents were produced at the trial.
None of these agents came forward to deny signing the certificates.

But assuming that the presiding officers counted the questioned
ballots for the petitioner and that they did not tamper with them then-
selves, the obvious inference would be that it was the electors who
placed the.questioned marks on the ballot papers. This is what I am
really being asked to believe and to find. How could this come about
and what is involved in the contention?

The respondent, who is a sociologist, said that the constituency
had a lot of illiterate people in it. Southern Manchester is a remote
mountain area; he said, and illitpracy tends to be high in sueh areas.
He saidkthe incideﬁce of illiteracy is probably higher in that econstituency
than in most others. In view of this last statement it might be of
intercst to fefér to the report of the Chief Electoral Officer on the
general elections of 1972 (exhibit 5). The average percentage of
rejected ballots throughout the.Country was » 86. In all but five
constituencies the rejected ballots wer: less than 1%. In two con-
stituencies they were less than 2% but more thah 1%, viz: Kingston
Central and St. Mary Northern. In St. Thomas Central it was 2¢70%,
at. Ann South Eastern L4+20% and Manchester Southern 519%. If the
petitioner's claim that 214 ballots were tampered with is right then
the percentage of rejected ballots iﬁ that constituency would be
reduced to approximately 2+58.

As an example of what illiterate voters will do, the respondent
gave evidence that during the election campaign he gave instructions
to the voters how they should mark the ballot papefs. His namec was the
first on the ballot papers and as,he said, some of the voters could not

read he gave them instructions to vote for the name at the top. He
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said that at the fiﬁal count there were a number of ballots
(spme were seen at the trial) on which the cross was.placed against
the box at the top of the ballot paper where the presiding officer's
initials appeared. It is contended that these ballots were so marked
because of the respondent's instructions. It is said that, in the same
way, instructioﬁs given by the petitioner may have caused genuine double
votes. Therc was evidence given by Lennox Martin and not denied, as
well as by onme of the petitionep'!s own witnesses, that prior to eleetion
day the petitioner told his supporters to "plus out Manley and vote for
the bell." Mr. Martin said he heard the petitioner say this on February
25 at a meeting at Plowden. Thé¢ petitioner's symbol was the bell while
that of the respondent was the head. It was said'fhat these instructions
were, undeniably, fraught with danger and liable‘to‘lcad to confusion.
The contention is that the questioned marks, or some of them, in the
respondent'!s seetion of the dallot papers may have becn the result of
illiterate electors taking the petitioner's instructions literally and
"plusing'" or "crossing" out the respondent's name. In this connection,
it was said that on an inspection of the ballots exhibited in court
more than 95% of the cases of double votes had the cross in the
respondent's space either over the symbol or to the left of the sygbol
and that this was significant because the normal instructions given
to the voters indicate that the ¢ross should be placed to the right of
the symbol.

It was submitted for the respondent that it followed from what
hes been eaid in the immediately preceding paragraph that it is not an
inescapable inference that the double votes are the result of illegal
tampering with the ballot papers; that in a considerable number of cases
double votes might have occurred quite genuinely in the constituency.

In support of this it was pointed out that there is evidence from
electoral offigers a polling stations Nos. 30A, 34, 51B and 53, as well
as at Nos. 31B (sic) and 42C, that there were double votes at their
stations during the preliminary count of votes. These will be dealt
with later. It was submitted, further, that on the basis of the
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cgedibility of the witnesses, the unreliability of the regords agd all
the evidence in relation to double vating in the constituency, the
petitioner has not discharged the burden of proving that he and not the
respondent had the lawful majority.
As I have said, from the above contentions and submissions
I am being asked to believe and to find that the electors were themselves
resporsible for placing all the marks on the questioned ballots, which
caused them to be rejected as douhle votes. This womld mean that the
marks on each ballot paper are genuine marks, made by the same hand
at the same time. No impartial person looking at the questioned ballots
could believe that the questioned marks on all, or the majority, of them
arce genuine. I have scrutinized them and there is not the slightest
doubt in my mind that ballots validly cast for the petitioner were
illegally tampered with, with the purpose of causing them to be rejected
as double votes, and I so find.
One examining a questioned ballot would naturally compare the
mark claimed to be genuine with the mark or marks claimed to be false.
was false and which
In many cases it required 2 mere glance to sce whichéwas genuine.
These were usually cases in which the cross made against the petitioner's
symbol was made by an obviously unskilled or unsteady hand whereas the
cross or other mark in the respondent's section of the ballot paper
was made with fluent and clear strokes. I hold that the questioned ballots
from one polling station can legitimately be comparcd among themselves
and with questioned ballots from other polling stations in order to
determine whether or not they were tampered withe When this was done
the result was revealing.l Ballots from the same polling station had
the crosses against the symbol of the petitioner obviously differing
from ballot to ballot, indicating that they were made by different hands.
The marks in the respondent's section were either identical in character
or so str»ikingly similar as to leave no room for doubt that they were
made by the same hand. When ballots from some polling stations were
compared with those from others there was no doubt that the same hand

made the questioned crosses or marks from station to station.
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(Compare e.g. polling station ol with 38; 30B with 42B and 72; 23 with
35 and BOB.); It is,perhaps, unnecessary to say that the similarity

of the questioned marks on ballots from one polling station and from
station to station is cogent evidence that they are false. Dr. Barnett
was constrained to admit in his closing address that nthere are somc
polling stations in respect of which the witnesses and the records were
such that onc may well be incélined to the view that there were votes
which were good votes and which later appeared as double votes or in
some altered form." In fact, the evidencec of tampering is overwhelninge
After a time the questioned marks became so familiar in appearance

as to prove themselves false. In some cases the oral evidence was
hardly necessary and was almost formal, for the purpose only of authenti-
cating the ballots as having been among those counted by the presiding
officers. The‘person or persons responsible for tampering with the
ballots must have been nadve indeed to think that such an obviuvus fraud
could go undetected.

As an argument against 2 finding that there was tanpering
and in favour of the contention that the questioned marke were nade Ly
the electors, it was said that there is no uniformity of style from
polling statiun to polling station insofar as thc marks in the respdndent's
spaces on the ballots are concerned. It was said, further, that therc is
not even uniformity as to the number of such marks, therc being many
cases of three or more crosses On the ballot papers. I have already
said that there were many instances, in my opinion, of uniformity of
style in the questioned marks from statiocn to station. As for hallots
with three or more CrosSsesS, the distinct impression was created that
these were marks made at random and in a hurry and more consistent, in
my view, with false marks than with electors seeking to "plus out" the
respondent. In fact these multiple marks disclose a factor which is
clearly against the contention that the electors made the questioned
marks to "plus out Manley." There were several ballots with three
crosses in which one questioned cross was in the respondent's section
and the other questioned cross in the petitioner's, the third cross
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being the one regarded as being validly made by the elector against the
vetitioner's symbol to record his vote for the petitioner. An elecbor
who was intent on "plusing out® the respondent would hardly mark one of
the "plusing out" crosses in the petitioner's section, This was one of
the indications of randem marks made with a view to invalidating votes
that had been validly cast. ZEZxamples of ballots with questioned crosses
in the petitioner's section as well as in the respondent!s may be seen
among the questioned ballots from polling stations Nos. 23, 29B, 29C, 38
and 41, 1In any event, the lack of uniformity of style of thc marks from
station to station and in the number of such marks can, in the circumstances,
be regarded more as an indication that more than one person was involved
in the tampering, as is more thap likely, than that there was no *+ Lurcr-
ing at all.

To counter the allegation that there was taoupering with the
ballots claimed by the petitioner, instances of ballots from other polling
stations, which were rejected because of double votes and yct not claimed
by the petitioner, were introduced4into evidence on behalf of the
regpondent. This was done, presumably, to found an argument that these
others must be regarded as geruine double votes otherwise the petitiocner
would have claimed themj and if they are genuine so are thcose claimed by
the petitioner. Thig argument was, however, not eventually put forward
because evidence was c¢alled on behalf of the petitioner in respect of
some of these other polling stations similar to the evidence called for
those he claimed to show that those he did not claim werc also tampered
with and could have been claimed by him. The ballots with double votes from
these other polling stations which wre examined bore similar characteristics
to those claimed by the petitioner and he could well have claimed them
also as valid votes for him which had been tampered with.

The pummiers conveying the ballot boxes from the polling
stations to the head station at Cross Keys gave evidence of having

received the boxes properly locked and sealed and delivering them in the

«es/same



-27-

same condition to the returning officer. The returning officer said,
in fespect of all the 91 boxes, that when he received them he saw
nothing to indicate that they had been tampered with after they had left
the presiding officers. 1In his report of proceedings to the Chief
Electoral Officer (exhibit 2), however, he said in his special report
at paragraph 14: "411 ballot boxes were returned, although a number of
them were not properly sealed, and some keys were not rcturned in the
proper envelope.' Evidence was also given by the policemen who guarded
the boxes around the clock from election night until completion of the
final count, while they were stored at the Cross Keys court house. Each
said he saw no one interfere with the boxes while he was on duty. It
is on this evidence that the returning officer relies for the submission
that every precaution wase taken for security of the boxes. It is also
from this evidence that I am asked to infer that the questioned marks
nust have been made by the electors, sinee na one interfcrw’ lth the
boxes during the period from the preliminary count at the polling
stations until they were opened at the final count. The .evidence of
tampering is, however, SO cogent, so obvious, as I have endeavoured %o
show, that it completely outweighs the evidence of the couriers and

the guards. Somehow, at some time between the ballot boxes leaving the
polling stations and the end of the final count, some person or persons
had the opportunity and tampered with ballots which had been vaiidly
cast for the petitioner to frustrate the will of the electoratee.

I must now examine the ballots claimed by the petitioner

and the evidence relating to them. I shall deal with the ballots from
saeh polling statioh in turn. This is necessary because the primary
claim by the petitioner is that when the votes he has claimed are taken
into account the result Will show that he obtained a majority of the
votes cast at the election and is now entitled to be declared as the
candidate who was duly elected. Before he can be awarded any of the
votes he claims he has to prove beyond reasonable doubt that that vote

was validly cast for him and that the ballot was subsequently tampered
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with causing him to be denied that vote at the final count. So each

ballot must be examined and a decision made whether the burden of proof
has been discharged in respect of it. One of the matters which it is
necessary for the petitioner to prove in each case is that the ballot-
paper on which the vote he claims 1is recorded was among those cast and
counted for him at the polling station. In other words, each ballot-

paper on which a vote he claims is recorded must be identified to havce

been among the ballot -papers found in the ballotebox at the close of the
poll. This is specially so as evidence of tampering is evidence that there
was unauthorised interference with the ballots, with the possibility of

the introduction of false ballot-papers.

Polling Station No. 11 - DPlowden.

The petitioner claimed 5 votes from this station in his
petitfonn. In the respective gnvelopes produced at the trial there were
49 votes for respondent, 53 for petitioner and 5 rejected ballotse. The
presiding officer, Noesiah Holness, a dressmaker, and the poll clerk,
Norwan Reid, a farmer, gave evidence. They said that at the preliminary
count ?ade by the former there were 49 votes for the gziﬁiéﬁﬁﬁgﬁ 57 for the

'gﬁ*aﬁuv _ ) ]
#gsgﬁnﬁgnt and one rejeeted ballot. From the 5 rejected ballots produced
at the trial they identified one (on which there was no cross but the ramg
George! written on the face of the ballot-paper) as the ballot rejected
by the presiding officer. Each of the remaining four had a cross in the
section of each candidate. Both witnesses said that at the preliminary
count there was no ballot marked with double crosses and the presiding
officer said she would have rejected any such ballot had she seen one.

The poll book, with the statement of poll properly completed, was produced
and supported the oral evidence on the number of votes found for each
candidate and the'fact that there was one rejected ballot. A copy of the
eertificate of the preliminary count of the poll bearing signatures
identified as being those of the two eleetion officers and the agent for

each candidate was also produced and also agreed with the oral evidence.
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The presiding officer identified her intials on L4 of the 5
rejected ballots. The identity of 3 of them was challenged because
on these 3 the initials were in script whereas on all the ballots
from the envelopes of the candidates the letter "NV of the initials
were in cursive writing and the letter "H" in script, except for one
ballot from the respondent'!s envelope, which also had both letters of
the initials in script. Though it seemed a bit peculiar that out of
105 ballots imitialled only 4 were initialled in this way, I had no
reason to doubt Miss Holness' evidence that the initials were hers.

She admitted during cross-examination that she had the figures for the
preliminary count written in the palm of her left hand while she gave
evidence but this did not affect her general credibility. One of the
questioned ballots and one from the respondent's envelope were not
initialled by the preaejding officer. The endprsement on this questioned
ballot by the retuwning officer was that it was rejected by him because

of the double vote as well as for the absence of initials. The latter

was not a valid ground for rejecting it (see s. 55(3) of thc Representation
of the People Law, Cape. 342).

Looking at the 4 questiocned ballots themselves, the inference is
clear that they were tampered with. The cross in the rcspondent's
section on each when compared with each other appear identical in
character, indicating  the¥y werc made by the same hand. In each
case the eross in the respondent's section is differcent in character

from that in the petitioner's section, indicating they were not made
by the same hand. In one case the cross in the petitioner's section

did not have two clearly defined lines making the cross; it was with
obvious difficulty that the cross was made. The cross in the respondent's
section, however, was clearly and crisply marked. T believe the presiding
officer that the 3 questioned ballots with her initials were among those
she counted. I am satisfied that the ballct without her initials was
also among them., I believe her evidence and that of the poll clerk that
the questioned ballots did not have double votes when counted. On their

evidence and on the clear inference to be drawn from the marks on the
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ballots I find that the ballots were tampered with. The numbers stated
above indicate elearly that the questioned ballots were from among those
originally counted for the petitioner. The returning officer confirmed
this fact in his evidence. I find that the 4 questioned ballots were
validly cast for the petitioner and I award them to him.

The questioned ballots from this station were the source of
further suggested suspicious conduct on the part of thc returning officer.
This was, perhaps, directly responsible for the suggestion that the
tampering with the ballots took place at the final count after the
envelopes had been opened. The returning officer endorsed each of the
4 guestioned ballot papers with his reasons for rejecting them. On that
without initials he wrote originally that it was rejected on the ground
"that initials should not be written in script writing." On another he
wrote '"Objected 4o by P.N.P. candidate re initials. Objection not
accepted by J.L.P. agemt. Recjegted by R.0." This was clearly rejected
because of the initials being in script writing. The retuyrning officer
admitted altering the endorsement on the first by changing the ground of
rejection to the grounds that "there are no initials and marked for two."
The other three were altered by adding the words 'marked for two! on
each after "Rejected by R.O." There are two matters which justifiably
aroused suspicion in this connection. The first was that the double
votes were clearly to be seen on all 4 ballot papers yet this was not an
original ground of rejection. The explanation given by the returning
officer was that he rejected all 4 and revised his decision and it was

then he made the alterations. He said that at first he rejected all 4
(should be 3) on the sole ground that they had script writing and it was
after he changed his decision to rcject them on that ground that he
rejected them on the gr&und that they were ''marked for two.' In re-
examination he explained that he counted the respondent'!s votes first
and at that stage therec was controversy over the script initials. He
said he found such votes in rcspondent's envelope; he looked through all

in respandent's envelope first to see how the initials werec, whether
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seript or cursive; he then did the same for petitioner's bhallots; in
looking through them he was looking only at the initials. As I have
indicated, there was only one ballot besides the questioned ballots with
script writing and it was in the respondent's envelope (and marked "Q"

in evidence). That there was debatc at the final count about the
presiding officer's initials when the ballots from this peclling station
were being counted there is no doubt, but in spite of the explanati:on

it is difficult to understand hcw the ballots were rejected for the
jinitials without the double votes being seen. If thc controversy arose
during the counting of the respondent's votes, as was said, why was the
ballot marked "Q" not rejected? There is nc endsrsement on it, yet it
should have been the first cne discovered with the initials in script
writing and rejected. The other matter which created suspicion was the
fact that the alterations made on the 4 ballct papers werc with ink of

a different colour from the ink with whieh the original endorsements were
made. Yet the returning officer insisted that the alteraticns were done at
the same time as the original endorsements. However, when this evidence
is put with the rest of the evidenece already referred to which was
adduced to prove that the tampering was done at the final cuunt, there

is still not sufficient evidence tc justify a finding to that effect.

Polling Station No. 13 = Alligator Pond

3 votes are claimed

Evidence was given by the presiding officer = Egchrist Williéms,
dressmaker - and the poll clerk - Betsy Martin, higgler - that 103 votes
were counted at this station for the respondent, 64 for the petiticner,
with 4 rejected ballots. The ballots produced at the trial show that the
figures were the same after the magisterial recount. Only 2 of the &
rejected ballots produced have double votes. A third has a mark, not a
¢ross, in the respondent's section in addition to the cross against the
petitioner's symbol. Apparcntly the 2 without double votes were awarded
to the respondent at the final count from among the rejects at the
presiding officer's count bupzzzisequently rejected at the recount.
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The returning officer in his evidence, under c¢orss-examination, said that
the respondent's votes went up from 103 to 105 at the final count.
The presiding officer identifies one out of the 4 rejects as among
those she rejected. “he could not remember why the other 3 werc rejected
by her but she said that none of those she rejected had double votes.
The poll clerk confirmed the impression which I formed, from the evidence
of the presiding officer and from scrutiny of the ballot papers, that the
L4 rejected ballots produced at the trial werc the 4 rcjected by the
presiding officer. The poll clerk identified 2 of them (those without
the double crosses) as having been rejected by the presiding officer in
their present condition. She said that the other 2 werc the other 2
rejected by the presiding officer though without the questioned marks now
on them,
The questioned marks on the 2 ballots with double votes are:
on one there is a cross in the seetion for the respondent in addition to
the cross against the petiticner's symbol which it is contended is
genuine; on the other there are two questioned crosses, one in the
respondent's section and one in the petitioner's = these are in addition
to the suggested valid cross against the petitioner's symbole The cone-
tention during the evidence was that 3 missing rejected ballots from the
presiding officer's count (based on the presiding officer's evidence, which
was the first called) may have becn counted at the final count for one or
other of the candidates and that the 3 in evidence, which were originally
valid votes for the petitiuner, were illegally tampered with, Unless the
3 original ballots rejected were awarded to the petitioner at the final
P2 B auntng AT Enie8n ROl R S EE % UaRE] ROt be cuual as they aro now.This
/As I have already indicated, I do not think it is. As for the questioned
crosses on the two ballot papers, they are typical. While being consistent
with themselves in character, they are outstandingly differ.nt from the
crosses claimed to be validly madc for the petitioner, The probabilities
are that the 4 ballots produced were those in fact rejected by the
presiding officer. Though I am satisfied that the questioned crosses were
illegally placed on the 2 ballots, the petitiuner cannot benefit from his

claim at this polling station as he has not shown that he has beecn
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deprived, by the tampering, of votes validly counted for him by the
presiding officer. This was conceded by Mr. Phipps in his closing

speech.

Polling Station No. 14 - Port Mahone

4k votes claimed.

The poll clerk, hAnnabelle Clarke, a student, was the only
witness. She said that at her station the presiding officer, Nicanor
Forbes, counted 57 votes for the respondent and 58 for the petitioner,
Therc was no rejected ballot, At the trial 57 votes were found for
the respondent, 53 for the petitioner and L rejected ballots, rejected
because of double votes on each. The 4 ballots claimed were not
identified by the poll clerk as ballots counted for the petitioner at the
preliminary count at the polling station, though the returning officer
said that they came from the petitioner's envelope at the final count.
¥n fact, in respect of two of the rejected ballots, Miss Clarke said that
she cannot say whether the signatures on the face of the ballot papers
were those of the presiding officer. Further, on the back of one of these
two ballot papers "N, Forbes" and the number "52" are written; on the back
of the other the number "46" is written. Miss Clarke said that nothing
was written on the backs of the ballot papers when they were being counted
and that if, in the case of the first of these twosthis ballot came from
the hallot box at her station the writing on the back "must have got on
it after the votes were counted."

Apart from the lack of authenticity, there are serivus dis-
crepancies in the number of ballots cast at this polling station, It will
be seen that the total votes counted at the station, according to the poll
clerk's evidence, was 115 while the total ballots found in the envelopes
at the trial was 114. The poll book, which is in evidence, ccrtifies 113
votes polled and lists 113 names. The certificate of the preliminary
count of the poll which was tendered in evidence records 58 votes for
each candidate - a total of 116. Besides, there is an obvious erasure
at the place on the statement of the poll in the poll book where the
number of rejected ballots should be written. The word 'none" is written
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over the erasure. Though the erasure is obvious and is similap to
another erasure, also obvious, on the statement of poll, the poll

clerk, while admitting there is the latter erasure, said she did not

see the former. She said at first that '"none' was written by the
presiding officer and then, in answer to me, said she had written it.

On the ballots themselves, there are crosses on each for the
petitioner which appear to be genuine. Imn 3 of the ballots thc questioned
crosses were inconsistent with the crosses regarded as valid; in one
especially the point of the pencil marking the questioned cross was much
broader than that making the cross for the petitioner which is regarded
as valid, 1In the case of the 4th ballot, both the questicned and the
valid crosses could well have been made by the same hand.

In all the above circumstances it cannot be said beyond reasonable
doubt that there were no rgjeghed balloes a¢ €he preliminary count. If
there were it.cannot be said how many. For this reason and the lack in the
identity of the rejected ballot papers I hold that the petitioner has not
discharged the burden of proof in respect of his claim for 4 votes from
this polling station. None is,therefore,awarded. These ballots, however,
éualify to be taken into account if the petiticner's zliernative claim

is being considercd.

Polling Station No. 17 - Marlie Hill

15 votes claimed

The ballots produced at the trial showed 27 votes for the res-
pondent, 52 for the petitioner and 16 rejected ballotse. Caswell Christion
gave evidence for the petitioner. He is a student 20 years old at the
Marlie Hill All-age school and was the poll clerk at this station. He
sald that at the elose of the poll 21 votes were counted for the
respondent, 53 for the petitioner and 21 ballots were rejected. The
documents in the poll book were all properly completed. He said that
during the count at the station he saw no ballot paper with a cross for
each candidate and that if he had seen any he would have recjected them.
He 1dentified the initials on the 16 rejected ballots produced to be those
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of the‘presiding officer, Mrs. Winnifred Rennals. One of these ballots
has onc cross only and is not in issue. The witness said that the other
15 shown to him had a cross each for the petitioner and the respondent
and that he saw no ballots like those when the preliminary count was
being conducted. The returning officey in his evidence said that these
15 ballots came from the petitioner'as envelope and thce only reason for
rejecting them was that they had deuble votes.

When the figures from the preliminary count arc comparcd with those
established at the trial, it is clear that ballots rejected at the pre-
liminary count were awarded to both candidates at the final count and/or
the magisterial recount. The increase in the respondent's votes occurred
at the final count, according to the returning officer's evidence. The
poll clerk; Mp. Christiam, accounted to my satisfaction for the ballots
rejected ay the preliminary count from among the ballots awarded the two
candidates and 2 from among the rejecbed ballots. I was impressed by the
evidence of this young man, who I believe spoke the truth.

The erosses in the petiticner's section on the 15 ballots in
issue are different in character and werec, clearly, not madec by the same
hend. This was put to the returning officer during cross-examination by
Mr. Phipps and he agreed., I find that these crosses are genﬁine. On
13 of the 15 ballots the questioned crosses are made in similar €ine
pencil point with light strokes or impressions - these werc all crisply
made. I am in no doubt that they were all made by thc same hand. 411
the questioned crosses are inconsistent in character with the genuine
crosses for the petitivner. The questioned eross on one of the ballots
is made through the respondent's symbol to indicate, presumably, a
crossing out of the symbol. This cross is, however, clearly not made
by the same hand as that which made the cross in the petitioner's sectiun.
On the remaining 2 ballots the questioned crosses differ from those on the
first 13 in the form of the cross but in each case the genuine cross is
different from the questiomed cross. One of thesec latter 2 ballots is
without the initials of the presiding officer and the poll clerk said in
oross=-examination that he can't say it came out of the ballot box., In
all the circumstances, I find that it was amcng those counted for the
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petitioner ét %he preliminary gount.

On the evidence outlined gbove I am satisfied that the 15
ballots claimed were validly cast for the petitioner, were counted for
him at the preliminary count and were subsequently tamjered with, I

so find and award them to the petitioner.

Polling Station No. 23 - Salmon Town

14 votes claimed

At the trial 28 votes were produced for the respondent, 82
for the petitioner and 15 rejected ballots. They were all rejected
because of double votes, according to the evidence of the returning
officer. The presiding officer, Horace Barnes - a mason, gave evidence
that at the preliminary count he found 28 votes for the respondent and
97 for the petitioner; there was no rejected ballot. He said that at the
preliminary count he did not see any ballot marked with crosses for both
candidates. When shown the 15 rejected ballots in evidence at the trial
he said he saw none in the condition in which those were (with double votes)
at the count conducted by him. Mr. Barnes went on to disclaim the signature
"He. Barnes' appearing on each of the 15 ballot papers. He said he did not
write any of them. This is fatal to the petitioner's claim for these votes.
Mr. Phipps submitted that though this disclaimer might weaken the infercnce
based on continuity that the 15 ballots were at all stages counted for the
petitioner, the position of strength in the inference is restored again
by the evidence of the returning officer. The returning officcr said the
15 ballots rejected came from the petitioner's envelope. I do not agree
with this submission. It is absolutely essential that the questioned
ballots should be identified as being awmong those counted at the preliminar,
count. Their presence in the envelope with the petitioner's ballots is
not sufficient proof of identity. The claim is disallowed. But for the
absence of evidence of identity I would have allowed all 44 votes. The
questioned crosses on the ballot papers have all the characteristics of

tampering, to the detriment of the petitioner. The evidence of tampering
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Polling Station No. 24 =galmon Pown

9 votes claimed.

From the ballots produced at the trial, there were 23 votes

for respondent, ?5 for petitioner and 9 rcjected ballots. The only
witness called was Torfreda Ma Carthy, who was the indoor agent for thev
petitioner at this poll%ng station. She could not identify the signature
of the presiding officer on the 9 rejected ballot papers. The submissions
made in respect of polling station No. 23 were repeated forrthis statioh,
because of the absence of evidence of identity. The recasons that I

gave in respect of station No. 23, apply here. The claim is, accordingly,
disallowed. Because of the clear evidence of tampering, the balldts

should be taken into account on the alternative claiﬁ.

Polling Station Nu. 29B - Smithficld

5 votes claimed

The presiding officer, Oliwer Clarke, and the poll clerk,
Yvonne Brown, both teachers, gave evidence. The result of the preliminary
count as given in evidenrce by them was: 13 votes for the respondent
and 21 for the petitioner; there were no rejects. The certificate of the
preliminary count of the poll signed by the two witnesses and by the
agent for each candidate was tendered in evidence. This and the completed
statement of poll in the poll book supported the oral evidence. The
returning officert's evidence is that at the final count the votes for
the respondent were 13, for petitioner 16 and there were 5 rejected ballot
papers. At the recount, he said, the rejects were increased to 6 and the
petifioner's votes reduced to 15. Both Mr. Clarke and Miss Brown éaid they
saw no ballot paper at the preliminary count with a cross for each candi-
date. Mr. Clarke identified his initials on the 6 rejected ballot papers.
There was one with one cross only and not in issue., Both witnesses
identified this ballot as having been counted for the petitioner at the
preliminary count. Of the remaining 5, in 3 the crosses in the petitioner's
section to the right of his symbol were different in form to the other
crosses on the ballot papers. In 2 of these, an obviously shaking or
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unsteady hand made he Grosses ¥e <he might of the petitionerts symbol
while an obviously stecady hand made those in the respondent's sectiona

In the 3rd, in addition to the cross to the right of petitioner's symbol,
there is a questioned cross in the respondent's section and 2 in the
petitionerts. The 3 questioned crosses are different in character

from the cross which, I believe, was validly made for the petitioner
against his symbol. The point of the pencil making the questioned crosses
was broader than that making the valid cross. The latter was with a
pencil of fine point. On the Lth ballot, the only perceptible differcnce
between the questioned ecross in the respondent's section and the cross
against the petitioner's symbol is the variation in the length of the

arms of the cross (those of the questioned cross being longer) and the
point of the pencil making them (the questioned cross made with broader
point). The 5th ballot was the top of 2 marked 10.C.1" in evidence.

Both election officers said that they saw no ballot taken from the ballot
box marked like this one. Mr. Clarke said, however, that had he scen

one like it he would have allowed it as a vote for the petitioner as the
mark in the respondent's section is not a complete cross, The questioned
mark on this ballot bore no specially striking similarity to the gquestioned
erosses on the other ballots from this station. The returning officer
said that all 5 ballots he rejected at the final count were from among

the petitioner's ballots and he rejected therm on the ground that they

were double votes and for no other reason.

I believe both the election officers that no ballots werc
govmeed at the pollipg station in the condition in which the 5 questioned
ballots appeared at the trial. I was particularly impressed by Miss
Brown's evidence. I find that these ballots were originally counted
as valid votes for the petitioner. On the oral evidence and scrutiny
of the ballots I am satisfied, and find, that they were subsequently

tampered with. I award them tc him,
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Polling Station Nos 29C e Woodlands

5 votes claimed.

Evidence was given by the poll eclerk, Justin Smith - a shopkeeper,
that at the preliminary count there were 9 votes for the respondent and
33 for the petitioner; there were no rejected ballots. 4At the trial the
ballots produced showed 9 votes for the respondent, 28 for the petitioner
and 5 rejected. The returning officer said that those were the figures at
the final count and that the 5 rejeeted were from the petitioner's
envelope, whose votes were reduced from 33 to 28 as a consequence. The
sole reason for rejecting them, he said, was the double votes. Mr. Smith
said that he saw no ballot with more than one cross at the preliminary
count and that the rejected ballots shown him at the trial were not in that
condition then. He satisfactorily identified the initials of the pre-~
siding officer on the 5 rejected ballots. His evidence as to th: figurcs
at the preliminary count was supported by the productiun of a copy of the
certificate of the preliminary count of the poll signed by himself, the
presiding officer and the agents for both candidates. The official state-
ment of the poll properly completed and signed by the presiding officer
was also produced.

There was a blemish on Mr. Smith's evidence. He did not arrive
at this polling station on time. He explained that he was assigned to
work at station No. 24B but when he arrived there before 7 a.m. he found
a poll clerk already there. He went in search of the returning officer
and by the time he found him and was rushed to No. 29C it was 9:30 a.n.
His evidence of the time of arrival is in conflict with that of Yvonne
Brown, the poll clerk at polling station No. 29B. There was also confusion
as to where she should work - as between 29B and 29C. She said she went
to 29C and saw Justin Smith there and this was before 8 a.m. Times recorded
4n the poll book kept at 29C showed that Mr. Smith agrived there between
8 and 9 o'clock. He obviously was misfoken as to the time of his arrival
at the station. The blemish referred to is his evidence that no one but
himself wrotc the names of the electors in the poll booke When the book
was shown to him he had to admit that the first eleven names werc not
written by him. He explained that he forgot that he had seen these nanmes

written in the book before he took over. In:.spite of this blenmish,
eee/which
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which in any event I did not regard as serious, I believedMr. Smithts
evidence as to the votes awarded the candidates and that there were no
double votes on them at the preliminary count.

I am in no doubt that the 5 rejected ballots were tampercd with.
On 2 of them the questioned crosﬁes in the respondent's section are clearly
inconsistent in character with the crosses in the petitioner'!s section;
while the crosses for the petitioner were obviously made by an unsteady
hand the questioned erasses wgre gotf In 4 of them the questioned crosses
were made with a thicker pencil point than the crosses for-the petitioner.
The questioned crosses on 2ll 5 are consistent in character. On one ballot
there are 2 crosses in addition to a well made cross in the right position
for the petitioner. The 2/crosses are in both candidates' sections = one
in each, These 2 are alike and are in contrast with the cross in the right
position for the petiticner. The 3 crosses on the ballot paper were clearly
not made by the same hand. ¥ find that each of the 5 rejected ballots was
originally validly cast for the petitioner, was counted for him at the
preliminary count and was subsequently tampered with. He is entitled to

have them awarded to him dnd I so award them.

Polling Station No. 30A = Cocoa Walk

7 votes claimed.

The poll clerk, Lamatha Gregory - a student, gave evidence that
at thé preliminary count at the polling station the respondent reccived
58 votes, the petitioner 35 and therc were 3 rejected ballot papers. At
the trial 58 ballot papers were produced with votes for the respondent, 30
for the petitioner and 8 rejected. The returning officer said that the
excess of 5 rejected ballot papers were from among the petitioner'!s ballcts
and were rcjected because of double votes on each.

Miss Gregory seemed an honest and truthful witness but she was some~
what uncertain in her recellections. &he deseribed the 3 ballot papers
rTejected at her station but when she was shown the 8 rejected ballot napers
at the trial she said she did not see among them those rejected at her
statione Yet, following the description she gave, the 3 were easily

{dentifiable., She picked out 2 which answered her description but said
| eses/she
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she mould ot Ay they were fhe speeidis omes rejecied, She was probably
being cautious. She also could not say if any of the other 6 were
rejected at the polling station. She, however, said if she had seen

any marked like thesedb she would have rejected them. She said that no
ballot marked with two lines and intersected by another was checked at
the polling station for either candidate, but she was shown the ballots
for the two candidates and admitted that 3 ballots each thus marked were
among them. The returning officer's evidence confirmed that the 3

ballot papers rejected at the station must have Leen those marked at the
trial "L.G.1", "L.G.2" and "L.G.3".

Miss Gregory said that she saw one ballot paper at the pre-
liminary count marked with more than one cross on the face of it and it
was rejected. It seems quite clear that that ballot is the one marked
"L.G.3". It has a properly made cross in the respondent's section and
an incomplete one in petitioner's. Both marks are consistent and appear
to have been made by the same hand. I take this to be a case where the
elector started marking for the petitioner, discovered he had made a
mistake and then marked acompletecross for the respondent. Of the 5
remaining after the:original ‘refjscts are removed, the questioned cross
on each is consistent in character the one with the other and different
from those regarded as the genuine crosses for petitionerj; on L4 of them
the difference is marked. ‘I have no doubt that if these 5 ballot papers
were among those counted for the petitioner at the preliminary count
that they were subsequently tampered with. I am, however, unable to
award them to the petitioner as their authentiqity were not established.
Miss Gregory said that though she sees the name E. Lyle written on the
face of each ballot paper she cannot recognize the handwriting. Emma
Lyle was the presiding officer. The petitioner's agent at that station,
Mrs. Myrtle Shaw, also gave evidence but added nothing. These 5 ballots

will be'placed towapyds the alternative claim,
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Polling Station No. EOB‘- Cross Keys

3 votes claimed.

The witnesses from this polling station were the poll clerk,
Phyllis Griffiths - a teacher, and Isabella Wint, the petitioner's
agent. Their evidence was that at the preliminary count 4O votes were
counted for the respondent, 54 for the petitioner and there were 2
rejected ballot papers., The statement of poll in the poll book and a
copy of the certificate of the preliminary count of the foll bearing
the signatures of the election officers and the two agents bear out the
oral evidence on the number of votes and rejects. .t the final count,
the returning officer said, & of the ballot papers from the petitioner's
envelope were rejected because of double votes, leaving the petitioner
with 50 votes while the respondent's votes remained at Lo, The poll
clerk said that during the preliminary count she saw no ballot in the
condition in whieh 4 of the rejected ballot papers, with double votes,
now appeared. She satisfactorily identified the presiding officer's
initials on the 6 rejected ballot papers. She said that thc 2 ballot
papers were rejected at the preliminary count because one had no mark
at all while the other was ﬁarked with a "Y" and not a crosse. - She
identified one ballot paper among the 6 rejects that had nc mark but
said she did not see any among them.marked with a 7Y in the way she
saw it at the preliminary count. In fact, one of the rejected ballot
papers among the 6 was marked with a "Y' but there werc pencil scratches
beside this mark which, in my view, accounted for the failure to identify
ite T am satisfied that this and the other without a mark were the 2
rejected at the preliminary count.

On the 4 rejected ballot papers with double votes, the crosses
in the petitioner's section are entirely different in character from
those in the respondent's section, which are the questioned marks.

All the questioned marks are consistent with each other. They do not
appear as clear crosies . Bach one has two ends of the cross joined

so that they appear as loops rather than e-ooiie:r. The impression created
is that each was made in a hurry. They are so completely different

from the crosses in the petitioner's section and sc much alike as to
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leave no room for doubt that the crosses in the petitioner's section
were not made by the same hand whereas all the questioned marks were
so mades

This is the poliing station at which Louise Bagaloo worked as
presiding officer. I am satisfied that Miss Bagaloo was an active
supporter of the petiti:ner. As I said earlier, she succeeded in
obtaining 100 blank ballot papers on election day which she did not
need and these were later recovered by the returning officer. Miss
Griffiths was asked about this incident but took refuge in saying she
did not femember most of the questions shc was asked. She admitted
writing the letter (produced as exhibit E.30B.F) to the returning
officer which resulted in the additional ballot papers being delivered
at the station. She said that she wrote the letter, signing the presiding
officer's name to it, on the latter's instructions. This I have no
hesitation in believing. She admitted that the returning officer visited
the station but did not remember the purpose of his visit., I am
satisfied that she took refuge in not remembering because of a feeling
of guilt in being involved in the procuring of the additicnal ballot
papers obviously for some unlawful purpose. To this extent I am prepared
to treat her evidence as biased in favour of the petiticner. So was,
of course, the evidence of the petitiocner's agent, who said she did not
sce the letter which waswritten by the poll clerk for thc additional
ballot papers and denied that the recturning officer took them away
when he visited the station. | In spite of this bias in each, I believed
their evidence as to the figures at the preliminary count and Miss
Griffiths' evidence that there were no double votes during the pre-
liminary count. The evidence which the 4 ballot papers with double
votes present on scrutiny is so overwhelming as proof of tampering as to
make the oral ewidence only necessary to prove the authenticity of the
ballot papers. I find that the 4 rejected ballot papers werc validly
cast and counted for the petitioner on election day and werc sub=
scquently tampered with. He has claimed only 3 of them and I award
them to him. The fourth, to which he would be entitled had he claimed

4, is put towards the altcrnative claim.
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Polling sgation No. 31 - Smithfield

2 votes claimed.

Mr. Phipps concedes that he has not satisfactorily
established his claim for these votes. I did not regard the presiding
officer, Vincent Allen - a farmer, as a reliable witness. He was not
frank in his answers and his evilence regarding the ballot papers he
rejected at the preliminary count was confused. 3 ballot papers were
supposed to have been rejected at the prcliminary count whdlde 11 ballot
papers were put in a separate envelope.as"8oubtful'as the respondent's
agent objected to them on the ground that the crosses made for the
petitioner were to the left of the symbol. it the final count the same
number, 3, were rejected, but a fourth was rejected at the rccount.
This evidence was given by the returning officer. 2 of the rejected
ballot papers had double votes. TIf the reasons given by the presiding
officer for rejecting 3 Hallots at the preliminary count are true then,
with the 2 ballot papers with double votes, the rejected ballot papers
at the final ecount should have been at least 5. The poll clerk, Madge
Gibbons - a shopkeeper, did not help to resolve the uncertzintices ab-ut
the rejected ballot papers. She betrayed bias by referring in her
evidence to the respondent's indoor agent as '"the c¢andidate for the

other side," I find that the claim at this station is not proved.

Pollipg Station No. 32 - Smithficld

2 votes claimed.
4t the trial, from the ballot papers produced, it was

established that after the magisterial recount there were 53 votes for
respondent, 111 for petitioner and 6 rejected. The returning officer
said that, eof the 6, he rejected 4 for double votes. He wrote on the
back of 3 of them and could say that those were rejected from among the
petitionerts ballots, The witnesses called for the petitioner were the
presiding officer, Samuel Porter, and the petitionert's agent, Nathaniel
Cockett. Mr. Porter, 54 years old, is a temporary clerk in the office
of the Ministry of Labour in Manchester. He was recommended for his
job as a temporary clerk by the petitioner. He was a dull witness and
it is clear that he was an cqually dull presiding officer; LAt first he

said he counted 169 ballot papers at the preliminary count - 5% for the
e.ee/res ondent
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respondent, 114 for petitioner and 2 rejected. In addition, he said,
there was one speilt ballot. When a copy of the certificate of the
preliminary count of the poll was produced and identified by him signed
by the poll clerk, the two agents and himself, he said the votes counted
were 52 for the respondent and 115 for petitioner. These are the figures
on the certificate. The total written by him on the certificate was,
however, 170. He admitted that on the certificate the number of votes
for the respondent was really 53, the "3" being written over the "2"
which was first written. This would make the total on the certificate
right, The statement of poll in the poll book did not help as it was not
completed, Mr. Cockett said ‘the figures were 53, 115 and 2 respectively,
with one spoilt ballot. This total of 170 ballot papers counted at the
preliminary count agrees with the total npumber of ballot papers found at
the trial. The poll hook, hawever, showed that only 169 electors voted -
there were only 169 names written in it. No spoilt ballet paper was
produced at the trial., It secms that the spoilt ballot paper somehow
became mixed up with the rejected ballot papers. The oresiding officer
could give no explanation for the discrepancy.

The 6 rejected ballot papers were found at the trial in two
envelopes instead of one - L,with double votessin one and 2 in the other.
There was no explanation given for this. The presiding officer ideptifie”
his initials on all 6 ballot papers. Of the 2 in one onvelope, one was
blank and appears to be the spoilt ballot. This is so because both
witnesses said that the 2-ballot papers rejected at the wreliminary count
were marked, They did not agree on how the 2 were marked. Mr. Cockett
said that on both the marks were outside of the sections for the candidates
but he could not say where on the ballot papers they were. MNr. Porter
said that the rejected ballot papers 'had many crosses on them.”" He
pointed out 2 ballots among the 6 rejected which he said had ''many crossesy;
both had crosses in the sections for the candidates. He said that the
spoilt ballot paper was not marked at allj the voter went behind the
screen and came back and said she did not understand to mark the ballot;
she gave it a slight mark but it was not for either candidate, He said
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he could not pick out the s»oilt ballot paper from among those he had
seen because he did not remember the mark. On the blank ballot paper,
however, he pointed to a spot near the respondent's symbol and said he
saw something like a mark there.
0f the 2 rejected ballot papers in one envelope, one was
blank, as I have said. The cther had a cross in the proper place in
the petitioner's section and a vertical line, like one line of a cross,
in the respondent's section. The presiding officer said he saw no
ballot marked like this at the preliminary count. The vertical stroke
could well have been made by the elector in error as it is not dis-
similar to the strokes which made the cross in the petitioner's section.
The 4 in the other envelope are those with the double votes.
The presiding officer said he did not see any ballots marked like these
during his count of the votes. One has a cross made in the proper place
in the petitionertsfection with a second cross in the black border at the
top of the respondent's sectionj this second cross protrudes slightly
above the blzélk border but there is no part of it in the respondent's
section. I cannot be sure that this was tampered with. The mark in
the border may well have been overlooked at the preliminary count and
the ballot counted for the petitioner. On the seeond ballot paper, among
the 4, there are 2 crosses = one in cach section. Both crosses are out
of character the one with the other. This was among those rejected at
the final count. I find that they were not made by the same hand. The
third ballot paper has a shakily made cross in the respondent's section
and a blotted out cross in the petitioner's. This is one of those
identified by the presiding officer as having many Crosses and may
have been one of those rejected by him. The petitioner cannot, therefore,
benefit from this. The fourth ballot paper is the other which the
presiding officer sai? has manv ~rnesses. The mark against the petitioner's
symbol has many crossing lines and this is no doubt what the witness
referred to as "many crosses.! It was agreel at the bar that this
would have been a valid vote for the petitioner but for the presence
of a small cross under the respondent's.symbol. This small cross is

out of character with the mark in the petitioner's section and in all
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probability was a mark jllegally made in view of my observations on

the second ballot paper from among the 4, However, I am not satisfied
beyond a reasonable doubt. The ecross under the respondentts symbol is
so small and so placed that it may have been overlooked at the pre-
liminary count. 1In any event, because the presiding officer identified
this ballot as having the kind of marks which made him reject 2 ballot
popers this may well have been one of those rejected by himj in which
event the petitioner would not have proved that he was denied a vote
which he had received at the preliminary count. 1 am satisfied that
one ballot which was validly counted for the petitioner was subsequently

tampered with and I award this to him,.

Polling Station No., 33 - Resource

4 votes claimed.

The poll clerk at this station was Isabell Thompson, a typist.
In her evidence for the petitioner she said that 116 ballot papers were
counted at the station. There were 27 votes for the respondent, 86
for the petitioner and 3 ballot papers were rejected.‘ She said that the
agent for the respondent objected to one ballot paper which was among
those rejected. A4t the trial the ballot papers produced showed 27 votes
for respondent, 83 for petitioner and 6 rejected. The initials of the
presiding officer on these 6 were satisfactorily identified by the poll
clerk. U4 of these had double votes. The poll elerk said she saw no
ballot paper with more than one cross upon it at the preliminary count
and, more particularly, saw none marked like the 4 with double votes among
the rejected ballot papers from this station shown to her.

Miss Thompson described the marks on the 3 ballot papers
which she said were rejected at the preliminary count. She was able
to pick out only one of those described from among all the ballot papers
from this statlon in evidence at the trial. 4Lt least one of thosc she
described seemed to be a valid vote. She said it had a cross with another
line.drawn through it. The clear inference must be that it was counted
for the petitioner, in view of the constancy of the respondent's votes
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and the fact that & ballot papers with double votes which the witness
said she did not see at the preliminary count arc now among the
rejected ballot papers. She was handed the petitioncr's ballots at the
trial and asked to say whether there was any among them with 2 crosses.
This was to test her evidence that she saw no ballot paper with more
than one cross on it. She picked one out with a cross on either side
of the petitioner's symbol but said that it was not like that at the
station; though the presiding officer's initials arc on it she said
they didn't have anything looking like that at the station. Miss
Thompson impressed me as a truthful witness. Her cvidence was not
discredited in any waye.

I am in no doubt that the first 3 of the % ballot papers
with double votes (which were marked "I.T.1l" at the trial) were
tampered with. Each of the marks in the respondent's section is the
familiar looped cross; they are consistent with each other and conpletely
inconsistent with the crosses against the symbol in the petitioner's
sections. There is no doubt that they were all made by the same hand
while the crosses in the petitiomer's section werec not. I am able to
call the looped crosses familiar because I am writing this after having
scrutinized all the questioned ballot papers and there arc several ha1l~*
papers with such marks on them. The fourth ballot paper has a cross
in the respondent's section which is not like thc other three but it
is inconsistent with the cross in the petitioner's section. I am
satisfied that this was also tampered with. With the clear evidence
of tampering with the ballot papers at this station it is nothing
to be surprised at that the ballot which Miss Thompson was made to
pick out from among the petitioner's ballots in cross=examination
(marked in evidence "T.T7.3") had an additional cross which she said
she did not se- +~1iminary count.

T find that the 4 ballot papers in issue at this station
were validly cast for the petitioner, were counted for him at the
preliminary count and were subscquently tampered withe I award themn

to hin.
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Polling Station No. 34 - Grove Town

9 votes claimed in the petition

Evidence was given by the presiding officer, Horace Jacobs =
assistant manager of a Peoples! Co~operative Bank, and the poll clerk,
Merva Crawford, a student. They swore that at the preliminary count
75 votes were counted for the respondent, 86 for petiticner and 3 ballot
papers were rejected. At the final count and the recount, according to
the returning officer's evidence, there were 75 votes for the respondent,
80 for the petitioner and 9 rejeeted ballot papers. The returning
officer said that he rejected 6 ballot papers from among those counted
for the petitioner at the preliminary count because they had double
votes. In his final address Mr. Phipps claimed these 6 only and not 9
as in the petition.

The presiding officer identified his initials on the 9 rcjected
ballot papers produced at the trial. Both himself and the poll clerk
gave the same description of the ballot papers rejected at the prelininary
count., Both said there was one among them with more than one cross.
Both identified a blank ballot paper (marked "M.C.1l" at the trial)
among the 9 rejects as one of those rejected by the presiding officere.
The poll clerk was unable to pick out any of the other rejects. The
presiding officer picked one out as being among the rejects at the
polling station which was not marked for either candidate but had 3
crosses at the top of the ballot paper (marked "M.C.3" at the trial).

He said that when he rejected it there was only one cross on it. The
poll clerk said she saw thié ballot paper during the counting but nct in
the condition it is in now. She said she sees three different marks

on it now which she did not see during the preliminary count. In view
of the fact that the ballot paper is not marked for either candidate it
must have been one of the rejects once it is identified, as it was, as

a ballot paper teken from the tallot box at the close of the poll. The
aresiding officer identified a third ballot paper (marked '"H.J.1l" at the
trial) as the one he rejected with more than one cross. He said he

recognized it "'because of the way the cross was marked on the head.”

eees/Mr. Phipps
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Mr. Phipps claims this ballot Im spite of this evidence, What is
peculiar %s that this ballot is among the 6 the returning officer said

he rejected from among those previously counted for the petitioner.

There is another ballot paper (marked '"M.C.5" at the trial) among :

the 9 rejects which has a cross in the petitioner's section and a
pencilled stroke against the respondent's symbol. There is nothing on

the face of the ballot paper itself to indicate that it was tampered with.
As has been noticed on a ballet paper alrcady dealt with, this stroke

may have been made by an elector who then found that he had m&de a mistake
in doing so and went on to mark the cross in the petitioner's section.
The poll clerk said she saw this ballot paper during the prelininary
count but she cannot remember the condition in which it was; she did not
remenber seeing any ballot paper like that. She said she would have
rejected it if she saw it like that as she did not regard it as a good
vote for the petitioner in view of the stroke in the respondent?s section.
This may well have been the third rejected ballot paper hut the evidence
of both officers that one ballot paper had more than one cross cannot

be ignored.

The ballot paper ("H.J.l"),which the presiding officer
identified, had a cross in the section for each candidate, Both crosses
appear to have been made by different hands. .lthough the inference from
the returning officer's evidence is that it was originally counted for
the petitioner, this cannot be awarded to the petitioner because of
its identification by the presiding officer.

Of the remaining 5 ballot papers with double votes, one has
3 crosses, 2 of these being in the respondent's section on either side of
the symbol and the third against the petitioner's symbol. On & of them,
the crosses in the respondent's section are different in character to
those in the petitioner's, markedly so on 2 ballots. On 3 of them the
erosses in the vespcndont's section appear to have been made by the same
hand, On the fifth, there was an obvious attempt to duplicate in the
respondent's section the peculiar mark against the petitioner's symbol =-
a cross with three or four udditional strokes through it. It is quite
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The poll clerk, Miss Crawford, was a more impressive witness
than the presiding officer. She struck me as being perfectly honest.
I believe them that there was no more than one ballot with two crosses
on it. I am satisfied, and I find, that 5 ballots cast for the petitioner
and counted for him at the preliminary count were subsequently tampered

with. I award him 5 votes from this polling station.

Polliggrstation No. 35 - Pusey Hill
12 votes claimed.

The presiding officer, Zoe Cockett, and the poll clerk, Jean
Scafe, both teachers, gave evidence. Mrs. Cockett was a perfectly
straightforward, honest and intelligent witness. 4ill her duties as
presiding officer were properly carried out. There was no imputation
of bias either in her or in the poll c¢lerk, They said that at the
preliminary count 135 ballot papers were counted. The respondent
received 38 votes and the petitioner 97. There was no rejected ballot
paper. The returning officer said that at the final count he awarded 39
votes to the respondent, 83 to the petitiocner and rejected 13 ballot
papers. The figures remained the same at the recount. OFf the 14 votes
taken from the petitioner, one was awarded to the respondent and 13
rejected - 11 for double votes. There is no dispute about one of the
reojected ballot papers. It was counted for the petiticner but the mark
was not 2 cross, though the presiding officer thought it was. Onc of the
13 was not initialled by the presiding officer but she identified hcr
initials on all the others. One of the 12 in issue did not have a double
vote ( it was marked "2.C.2" at the trial). It had a cross against the
petitiéner's symbol and a horizontal line in pencil in respondent's
section. This latter mark caused its rejection by the returning officer.
Mrs. Cockett swore that she saw no ballot paper at the preliminary
count in the condition in which the 12 ballot papers in disputc now appear,

On 9 of the 12 disputed ballot papers, all the crosses in the
respondent's seetion are alike in character and completely different
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from the crosses in the petitioner's seotion. They cdiffer in shape,
steadiness of hand, faeility in making thc crosses and in thickness
of pencil point. There were 2 with looped marks. Thcse 9 were
obviously tampered with. The tenth ballot paper has 3 crosses - 2 in
the petitioner's section and 1 in the respondent's. These crosses are
not so clearly inconsistent, but the cross in each secticn to the right
of the symbol is somewhat different to the third cross to the left of
the petitioner's symbol. I have not the slightest doubt that this
presiding officer would have rejected this ballot if it was marked in
this way when taken from the ballot box. iccepting that there was only
one cross on it when it was counted at the polling station, as I do, by
comparing the 3 crosses I conclude that the valid cross was the one in
the petitioner's section to the left of the symbol. The eleventh ballot
paper is that marked "Z.C.2". Mrs. Cogkett said had she seen it in the
condition it is in now she would have rejected it as marked for more than
one candidate. I accept her evidence that it was no¥ so marked when she
counted it. The twelfth ballot paper in dispute was marked "Z.C.3" at
the trial, The questioned cross in the section Jfor the respondent is
not like those on the first 9 ballot papers - it is more in the shape of
a "Y' than a cross. The mark in the petitioner's section has more than
two intersecting lines and the presiding officer said she did not reecall
seeing that particular ballot paper marked in that way. She, however,
identified 3 from the respondent's ballots amd 15 from the petitioner's
which are similarly marked and are not in dispute. I am satisfied that
the mark in the petitioner's section on "Z.C.3" was a valid mark and on
the evidence on a whole I am also satisfied that the mark in the
respondent's section was illegally placed there.

I find that the 12 disputed ballot papers were validly
cast for the petitioner and cgunted for him by the presiding officer.
I find, also, that they were subsequently tampered with. I award them

to him.
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Polling Station No. 38 - Pratville

8 votes claimed.

The sole witness for the petitioner was the poll clerk,

Mabel Logan = a housewife. She said that at the count by the presiding
officer 22 votes were awarded to the respondent, 83 to the petitioner
and there was 1 rejected ballot paper. She is supported by the certi-
ficate of the preliminary count of the poll signed by herself, the
presiding officer and both agents. The statement of poll in the poll
book was also properly completed.

At the final count, the returning officer said he ccunted 22
votes for the respondent, 74 for the petitioner and rejected 9 of the
ballot papers from the petitioner's envelope in addition to the ballot
paper rejected at the preliminary count. The 9 ballot papers were
rejected, he said, because of double votes. The figures at the final
count were maintained at the recount,

The poll clerk satisfactorily identified the presiding officer's
initials on the 10 rejected ballot papers. She identified the ballot
paper ;ejected at the preliminary count, whi¢h is not in dispute. She
swore that she saw no ballot paper during the counting at the station which
was marked with more than one cross. In particular she did not see any
marked in the way the additional 9 rejeg¥ed ballot papers now appears.

The eross-examination of this witmess was directed chie¥ly at showing

that she was biased in favour of the petitioner. She had a brother who

was an active supporter of the petitioner and her mother also supported hin.
She was injured on the night before the election in suspicious circumstances
and it was suggested that it was in the course of a political argument.

She denied the suggestion amd no evidence was called to establish it.

On % of the 9 ballot papers with double votes the crosses in
the respondent's section are alike in character and differ from the
crosses made against the petitioner's symbol. A4 looped cross appears on

one of theme. One ballot paper from the 7 has 2 crosses (one in each

candidige's section) against the numbers "1" and n2n in addition to the
cross against the petitioner's symbol. Linother has 3 such crosses,
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2 against the numbers 1" and "2" as/the other ballot paper and a third
to the left of the respondent's symbol. The 5 crosses refcerred to on
these 2 ballot papers were clearly made at random, No elector for the
petitioner who was '"plusing out' the respondent would be likely to place
an extra cross in the petitioner's section. The crosses in the rcspondent's
section on thc remaining 2 ballot papers out of 9 arc not as differont
from those in the petitioner's section as the first 7.

Mrs. Logan was probably biased but she did not betray it in
her evidence. It certainly did not affect her evidence regarding the
ballot papers counted at the polling station and their condition. I
accept her evidence and find that 9 ballot papers which werevalidly cast
for the petitioner and counted for him by the presiding officer were
rejected because of double votes. I am in no doubt that these 9 ballot
papers were tampered with subsequently to €he preliminary count thus
causing them to be rejctted. The petitioner has claimed only 8 in his
petition. I award them to him and place the remaining ballot towards the

alternative claim.

Polling Station No. 41 < .isia

7 votes claimed

The presiding officer at this station was amy Thompson, who
said she was a dressmaker,farmer and secretary of the Pratville Citrus
Growers' Association. She gave evidence as well as the poll clerk
Alton McLaughlin, a farmer. Mr. McLaughlin was not very bright and was,
perhaps, not the type of person who should have beexn appointed as an
election officer. The poll book, as a result of his lack of competence
I am sure, was not properly kept. The presiding officer must take some
blame for this as she should have supervised the poll clerk. The state=~
ment of poll and other forms in the pcll book which it was her respon-
sibility to complete werc not completed. This lack of compectence on the
part of the election officers did not, however, affect the matters
to be decided.

Both officers said that at the preliminary count 90 votes were
received by the respondent and 50 by the petitioner. There were no
rejected ballots. The returning officer said that at the final count

he awarded 90 votes to the respondent. He received 50 ballot papers
ooo‘/il’l
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in fhe petiticner's enﬁeloPe and rejeeted 9 because of double votes,
leaving 43 votes, which he awarded the petitioner. /it the recount the
petitioner's votes were reduced to 42 as one more ballot was rejected.
This bal;ot is not in dispute. Both the presiding cfficcr and the

poll clerk said that they saw no ballot papers during the preliminary
count with more than one cross on it. The presiding officer identified
her initials on all the rejected ballot papers and both said that the 7
with double yotes were no¢ in that.condition whes thc ballots were counted
at the polling station.

Both of those witnesses were probably biased in favour of the
petitioner. I did not come to this conclusion becausc of the way in
which they gave their evidence but because of admissiocns they made.

Mr. MeLaughlin said he worked as agent for the petitioner at a previous
election thpugh he denied being actively associated with the petitioner
or his party. Miss Thompson admitted that she was constituency secretary
for the petitioner's party and constituency up to 1970 3she said she
worked as a presiding officer in the local government clections of

1969 while she was secretary; she, however, said that she was not now
affiliated to any political party. But the returning officer gave
evidence, and I believed him, that Miss Thompsoﬁ performed the duties of
constitueney secrectary for the petitioner during the period before the
1972 general elections; she was one of the persons to whom payments were
made from the petitioner's constituency fund.

The returning officer said that he found no fault with the
way Miss Thompson discharged her duties on election day. T have already
said that the poll book from the polling station was not properly kepte.
In spite of the probability of bias, I believed both witncesses that they
did not see any ballot papers with double vates at the preliminary
count. I saw no reason to disbelieve Mr. McLaughlin and Miss Thompson
was a coherenf and strajghtforward witness. The only blemish I found in
her evidence was her statement that she had ceased being constituency
secretary in 1970, which turned out to be untrue in thc light of the
returning officer's evidence. She also sought to give the impression

that all the ballot papers she counted had perfect crosses. She said
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she did not remember seeimg ballot papers shown to her, with her
jnitials and validly counted for each candidate, which did not have

simple crosses or had decorations at the end of the strokes. Her evidence,

however, and that of the poll clerk were supported by a copy of ®he cer=-
tificate of the preliminary count of the poll signed by them and by the
two agents, which was put in evidence, as well as by the condition of the
ballot papers on scrutiny,

On all ? ballot papers with double votes the crosses in the
respondent's section are alike in character and give the clear impression
of having been made by the same hand. In 5 of them these crosses differ
in character from those made in the proper place in the petitioner's secticn.
One ballot paper has 2 crosses, one in each section, against the numbers
"in and "2", as we saw on two ballot papers at polling station No«38.

I am satisfied that the 7 ballot papers claimed were tampered
with after they had been couﬁted at the preliminapy count as valid votes
for the petitioner, having teen cast for him by the electors., I award

them to hin,

Polling Station No. 424 - Park Hall

5 votes claimed.

A% this polling station Olive Marshall, a housewife, was the
presiding officer. She swore that at the preliminary count of ballot
papers 20 votes were counted for the respondent and 31 for the petitioner.
There were no rejected ballot papers. The returning officer said that at
the final count he awarded 20 votes to the respondent. This award was
confirmed at the recount. The returning officer said he received 31
ballot papers for the petitioner; he rejected 6 leaving 25, which was
the amount of votes he awarded. At the recount, one of the rcjected
ballot papers was restored to the petitioner and the balance of 5
rejected.s The returning officer identified these 5 ballot papers as
being among those he rejected and the sole reason was that they each had
double votes.

Mrs. Marshall identified her initials on the 5 ballot papers

in issue. She said that they came from the ballot box at her station
...'/]Dut
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byt nak {n the coﬁdition they are now; she did not at the pféiimiﬁary
count see any ballot papar with more than one @ross - a cross for each
candidate., Mrs. Mafshall was a simple woman, not in a derogatory sense,
and seemed perfectly honest. She proved to be faulty in her recollections -
she said she was sure she had initialled all the ballot papers placed in
the ballot box but she picked one out from the ballots cf each candidate
which did not have her initialsg she said she did not at the preliminary
ecount come aérqss a ballot paper cast for the petitioner marked with more
than two crossing lines, but 6 such from the petitioner's ballots were
shown to hef and gad her initials on fhem; She said that somec of the‘6
had mafkings ﬁow which were not there when she counted. In this I think
she was mistaken; She said; in re-examination; that there was no doubt
in her miﬁd that éhe had no ballot papers with two c:osses; In spite of
her faﬁlty recollection I believed Mrs; Marshall that there werce no such
ballo£ paperé;

O0f the 5 questioned ballot papers, the éross in the respondent's
section on 4 of them are consistent in charactef; On 3 of these the cross
in the respondent;s section is markedly dis-similar to the cross in the
petitioner;s séction made in the proper place. On one of the ballot papefs
the eross in the fespondent's section is looped, I am in no doubt that
these 5 ballot papers were cast as valid votes for the petitioner and
counted for him Dbut were subsequently tampered with., I so find and
award them to him,

. Polling Station No. 42B < Manningsfield
8 votes claimed;

Harry Ramus, & headman with the Mandeville .irea Land Authority
and a farmer, was the presiding officer at this station. His daughter,
Zona Ramus, a teacher, was his poll clerk. They said that at the pree
liminary count 14 votes were counted for the respondent and 36 for the
petitioner. No bhallot paper was rejected. The returning officer said
that at the final count and at the recount the respondentts votes remained
at 14. He rejected 8 with double votes of the 36 ballot papers he
received for the petitioner at the final count. At the reccunt a further
ballot paper;which is not in dispute, was rejected for the petitionep

leaving him with 27 votes. vv../Both
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Both Mr. Ramus and his daughter said that during the counting
at the polling station‘they did not see any ballot paper with more than
one cross. Miss Ramus gave evilence before her father did and said that
the initials on the 9 rejected ballot papers shown to her were not
written by her father. He however contradicted this. He said that he.
wrote his initials on each of the 9 ballout papers and recognized then
as ballot papers he had oounted, though not in the condition they are in
now. He also removed doubts ereated b& his daughter in relation to a
number cof ballot papers taken from among the ballots awarded the
petiticner andthe respondent at the recount which were shown to her.

Mr. Ramus said that those ballot papers were also among those he checked
at the polling station.

On all of the 8 ballot papers with double votes which werec
rejected, the crosses which it is claimed were unlawfully made.are
different in character from the crosses made in the proper place in the
petitizner's section of the ballot papers. 5 of the ballot papers have
looped crosses. On one therc are 3 such crosses, on¢ on either side of

and one to the left of the petitioner's symbol.
the respondent's symbolﬁé These 3 crosses are obviously crosscs made at
random and they are in stark contrast to the cross which was nade on
the ballot paper to the right of the petitioner's symbol. While the
crosses to the right of the petitioner's symbol differ in character fron
ballot paper to ballot paper the other crosses are all consistent in
character and were clearly made by the same hand. There can be no
doubt at all that they were tampered with, the evidence being cogent.

Mr. Ramus was a very talkative but precise witness. There was
a strong indication of bias in favour of the petitioner from his
demeanour when suggestions were put to him in cross—examination that he
was actively iﬁvolved in the petitioner's political campaign., He denied
the suggestions but his bias was confirmed when the returning officer gave
evidence. Mr. Ramus was one of the persons who received payment from the
petiticner's campaign funds. These payments to him ceased, it was said,
when he was appointed to a post in the Land .uthority. No doubt he owed
this appointment to the petiticner. In spite of his bias, howcver, I saw
no reason to disbelieve him, or his Jdaughter, when they said that there

were no ballot papers with double votes at the preliminary count.
oo-u/In



Yo ang agomty the evidence of tampering is so clear that Mr. Ramus'
evidence was only wgreessary %o establish the authenticity of the ballot
papefS;

I find that the 8 ballot papers claimed were validly cast
for fhe petitioner, were properly counted for him by the presiding
officer and were subsequently tampered with, thus causing their rejection.

I avard them to the petitioner.

Polling Station No, 42C - iAsia

One vote was claimed in the petition .from this station.

Though the one ballot paper rejected at the recount has double votes,
Mr. Phipps said in his closing address that he cannot with justification
make a claim to any of the ballot papers. I agree that the claim has
not been established. The presiding officer, Mr. George Marshall, was
unable to identify the 3 ballot papers he rejected or to describe them.
The probability is that the ballot paper rejected at the recount was one
of those rejected by him., He said he would have rejected that ballot
paper if the only mark on it was that against the petitioner's symbol c u-

"because the lines do not cross."

Polling Station No., 42D « Pratville

1l vote claimed in petition.

The presiding officer, Myrtle Manning, a teacher, gave
evidence. She said that she counted 23 votes for the respondent and 58
for the petitioner. There were no rejected ballot papers. At the trial,
23 ballots were produced for the respondent, 50 for the petitioner and 8
rejected ballot papers. These represented the figures at the end of
the recount. One of the rejected ballot papers is not in dispute. The
balance of 7 have double votes. The eturning officer said that he
rejected these at the final count. Whereas up to November 12 the
returning officer admitted freely in cross-examination that/the ballot
papers with double votes which he rejected came from among the petitioner's
ballots awarded him at the preliminary count, when he resumed his
evidence under cross-examination on the morning of November 13 he
declined to say where the ballot papers he rejeccted with double votes

came from. The inference is, however, clear that thesc 7 ballot paners
IQ../with
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with double wotes were fronm the peetlioner's ballots,

The presiding officer identified her signature and initials on
the 7 ballot papers and said that they were among the ballot papers she
counted. They were not, however, in the condition in which they are now,
she said, or she would have rejected them. She said that during the
counting she did not see any ballot paper with two cXOeses.

L4 of the 7 rejected ballot papers with double votes, including
one marked '"Q" at the trial, have very large crosses in the section for
the respondent. All these crosses were consistent in character with
each other and were obviously made by the same hand., On each of these
Lk ballot papers the cross in the respondent's section is different in
character to the cross marked in the proper place in the petitioner's
section and in 3 of these the difference is distinct. On the remaining
3 ballot papers (from the 7) the crosses in the respondent's section
are not similar to those on the first 4 but each is different from the
eross in the petitioner's scttion.and obviously made by a different
hand.

There was no reason to disbelieve the evidence of the presiding
officer. &8he seemed honest and truthful. There was no imputation of
bias. Her recollection proved faulty when tested with ballot papers
about which there was no dispute but I do not believe that she could
forget the ballot papers with the double votes. The crosses on the
L4 ballot papers referred to above were too large to be overlooked or
forgotten.

I find that the 7 ballot papers with double votes were validly
cast for the petitioner, were properly counted for him at the preliminary
eount and were subsequently tampered with to make them appear as double
votes.

On behalf of the petitioner it was stated that it was an
ervor that only 1 vote was claimed from this station, Application was
made to amend the petition to claim 7 but objection to the application
was taken on behalf of the respondent. 4 decision on this application
was postponed for fuller and further argument but has not been pursued.
The ballot marked "Q" was eventually identified as the ballot the
petitioner is claiming. This is awarded to him and the other 6 are

put towards the alternative claim.
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Polling Station No. 43 - Victoria Town

1 vote claimed.

Eunice Williams, a postal agent, was the presiding officer. She
gave evidence that she cpunted 65 votes for the respondent and 47 for the
petitioner with 1 ballot paper rejected. At the trial 66 ballot papers
were produced for the respondent, 46 for the petitioner and 2 rejected,
One of the rejected ballot papers was identified by Miss Williams as the
one she rejected and this is not in dispute. The otHer rejected ballot
pape¥ has double votes and the returning officer sald that it was rejected
by him at the final count. The additional vote gained by the respondent
ower the amount he received at the preliminary count is explained by the
fact that a ballot paper which Miss Williams safd was spoilt and so treated
by her was subsequently erroneously counted for the respondent at either
the final count or recount or both. This ballot paper was identified
among the ballogs for the respondent (and marked "E.W.2" at the trial).

Miss Williams identified her fnitials om the ballot paper with
double votes. She said she saw no ballot paper during the count she con=-
ducted which had more than one cross and saw ncne in the condition of the
disputed ballet paper.

On this ballot paper the croés in the respondent!s section is
much larger than that beside the petitioner's symbel, It was made by a
pencil with a broader point and by a firmer hand. The questioned cross
bears the same characteristics as the majority of the crosses on other
ballot papers in dispute from other polling stations.

Miss Williams' recollection was tested by showing her ballots
validly counted for both candidates and not in dispmute but which did not
have simply made crosses. Ln each case (therc were 5 such ballots) she
denied seeing the ballot paper in its present condition when it is clear
that all the marks on the ballok paper werc made by the elector, This
weakened her reliability, but in each of the 5 cases the additional marks
on the ballct papers were in ome section and close to the cross made in
that section. She said that no onc objected to any ballot panver during
the count. The cross in the respondent's section on the questicned
ballot paper could not have been missed and I would have expectad the
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respondent'!s agent to object to it. 1Instead he, along with the other
agent and the two election officers, signed the certificate of the pre-
liminary count of the poll which was produced at the trial vouching for
the accuracy of the figures the presiding officer gave in her evidence.

A suggestion that the petitioner held indoor meetings at
Miss Williams' house was faintly made and firmly denied., No evidence
was brought to prove it. I accept her evidence that the questioned ballot
paper did not have double votes when it was counted by her. I find that
this ballot paper was validly cast for the petitioner, was counted for
him at the poliing station and subsequently tampered with. It is

awarded to him.

Polling Station No. 44 - Victoria Town

2 votes claimed,

Evidence was given by the presiding officer, the poll elerk
and the petitiovner's agent. The evidence is that 88 ballots werc cast,
with the respondent receiving 31 votes, the petitioner 54 and 3 ballots
rejected. .t the trial 31 ballots were produced asg eounted for the
respondent, 45 for the petitioner and 5 ballot papers were rejected -

a total of 81, There wersi;;’ballot papers missing which were not
counted during the recount. The evidence does not disclose whether they
were missing at the final count as well. .s I said before, there is no
record of any figures at the final count. The 7 missing ballot papers
were found during Mr. Phipps' final address on November 23, 1973 in an
envelope marked "Spoilt." All except one had typical double votes,

3 of the 5 rejected ballot papers produced had double votes
and the returning officer said he rejected them at the final count.

Mr. Wilburn Myers, a shopkeeper and farmer, who was the nresiding officer,
identified his initials on the 5 rejected ballot papers and said that at
the count eonducted by him he did not see any ballot paper with more than
one cross on it. He said he cannot say what conditiocn the 5 rejected
ballot papers shown him were in at the preliminary count as they never
had two marks on them. He was unable to identify or describe the 3 ballot
papers which he rejected. Miss Mervis Ellis, a teacher, who was the
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poll elerk deseribed the 3 ballot papers rejected at the polling statlon
but when shown the 5 rejected ballot papers said that she did not see the
3% among them.

On 2 of the ballot papers with double votes the questionéd
marks are not obviously different from the marks against the petitioner's
symbol though they are similar to some other questioned marks seen. The
third has the questioned cross markedly different from the cross in the
petitioner's section.

The absence of the 7 ballot papers when the witnesses were
giving evidence may have caused or contributed to the uncertainty of the
witnesses. I was not impressed by Mr. Myers. He was.cross—examined to
establish that he was a supporter of the petitioner's political party and
was the secretary of a branch. He denied the suggestions put to him but
his denials were not convincing and I got the impression that there was
substance i{n the suggestions. Miss Fllis appeared truthful but, as T
have said, she was uncertain about the rejected ballot papers. The 2
ballot papers in the 5 rejectes withcut double votes seemed logically to
be 2 of the 3 rejected at the preliminary count but neither witness
accepted that they were. >If they were not then there is no other which
could be rejected unless it is one with a double vote.

I can take no account of the 7 ballot papers which were found
as they have not been identified. The others are in the realms of
uncertainty. The petitioner's claim has not been established to the

required standard. I cannot award the votes claimed.

Polling Station No. 48 - Harmons

4k votes claimed.

James MeLlaughlin, a young teacher, was the presiding officer.
He gave evidence that at the preliminary count there were 69 ballot
papers counted, with 34 votes for the respondent and 35 for the petitioner.
There were no rejected ballot apers. .t the trial, the hallot papers
produced were 34 for the respondent, 26 for petitioner and 9 rejected,
5 of the rejected ballot papers have double votes. One of these is not
claimed. Though it has a cross in the respondent's section which is

similar to the questioned crosses on the other 4 ballot papcrs with
eesa/double
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double votes, yet the mark to the right of the petitionerts symbol is of
doubtful validity. The presiding officer said that hc saw this ballot
paper without the cross in the respondent's section during his count

of the ballots; he showed it to the others and it was agreed that the
lines had crossed; it was counted for the petitioner.

The presiding officer identified his initials on the other L
ballot papers with double votes. He said that during the count of votes
at the station he saw mo ballot paper marked with morc than onme cross
and said he saw none like these 4 when they were shown to him. The
returning officer said he rejected them at the final count. The crosses
in the resPOndent's seetion on the 4 bhallot papers are similar and were
elearly made by the same hand. 3 of them are looped erésses. They are
all inconsistent in character with the crosses to the right of the
petitioner's symbol. I am in no doubt that the b were tampered with.

Mr. MeLaughldn was a perfectly honest and truthful witness. I
believed his evidence that there were no ballot papers with double votes
when he conducted his count. I find that he counted the 4 ballot papers
claimed from this polling station, that at the time they bore valid votes
for the petitioner and that the ballot papers were subscquently tampered

with. The petitioner is hereby awarded the 4 votes.

Polling Station No. 49 - Harmons

7 votes claimed.

Both the presiding officer, Enos Bennett - farmer, and the poll
clerk, Mary Morris - dressmaker, gave evidence. They said that 73 ballot
papers were counted at this station, with 5 votes for re5p§ndent, 63 for
petitioner and 5 rejected. 4t the trial the ballot papers produced were:
L fopr respondent, 56 for petitioner and 13 rejected, The presiding
officer identified his initials on the 13 rejected ballot papers. When
asked £o pick out the 5 he rejeoted, If he eould, he did so {they were
morked TE.B.1" at the trial) and later picked out a 6th, which‘is a
blank ballot paper (marked "£.B.2."). Eventually he could nst pick
his 5 rejected ballot papers out of the 6. He said it is such a long

¢ime he does not remember which S.but he is certain he rejected only 5,
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The poll elerk said she did_not remember the condition of each of the
rejected ballot papers but would be able to pick them out if she saw

them. From the 13 rejected she picked out 4 of the 5 (nE.B.y.") the
presiding officer had picked out plus the 6th (7E.B.2."). She said

there were 2 ballot papers without pencil marks scen during the preliminary
counte.

Lmong the 13 rejected ballot papers there are 7 with double
votes. The returning officer said he rejeeted these at the final count.
I am satisfied that none of these was rejected by the presiding officer.
The respondent's votes were reduced by 1 from the preliminary count.
There is a ballot paper (the 3rd among "E.B.1.") in the balance of 6
which has a mark in the respondent's section. It can reasonably be
inferred that this was counted for the respondent at the preliminary
count and subsequently rejeeted as not properly marked. The inference
is elear, in my view, though the two electoral officers say, or imply,
that it was among those rejected. This ballct paper is among those which
it is contended should be awarded to the respondent as being wrongly
rejected. I believe that the remaining 5 are those rejected at the
preliminary count. Included amonyg them are 2 ballots not marked for either
candidate.

I am afraid the two officers did not impress me in the way they,
apparently, impressed Dr. Barnett. He submitted that MNr. Bennett was
generally completely unreliable and pointed out the deficiencies in the
pell book for which he was responsible. Mr. Bennett had his short-comings,
he is a simple man and is, perhaps, not presiding officer material. He
admitted that he did not know the statement of poll in the poll bhook
éhould be completed. When the poll clerk, as she said, brought tc his
attention that it should be completed by him he said the assistant
returning cfficer did not tell him to write it up. In spite of his
short-comings he appeared to me to be a perfectly honest witness. 1T
believe him when he said that he did not see any ballot paper with more
than one cross on its face and that if he had seen any such he would have
rejected it. One of the forms he did not omit to complete was the

certificate of the preliminary count of the poll which was signed by
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himself, the poll elerk and the two agents. This not only bears him

out on the figures he gave of the result of his count but also impliedly
bears out his evidencc on the absence of double votes in view of the
silenge of the respondent's agent.

On the 7 ballot papers with double votes, all the crosses in
the respondent's section are consistent in character and avpear to be
made by the same hand. 5 of these are different in character from the
respective crousses against the petitioner's symbole. The difference is
outstanding in 3 cases where the erosses made against the petitioner's
symbol were made with obvious difficulty while the corresponding crosses
in the respondent's section were made with clear, steady strokes. T
have not the slightest doubt that the 7 ballot papers were tampered with.

I find that they were tampered with after they had been validly
cast and counted for the petitioner on election day. I award them to
htm.

Yolling Station No. 50 « St. Tooclis.

i votes claimed.

The evidence shows that at the preliminary count 38 votes were
counted for the responident and 19 for the petitioner, a total of 57 ballots.
There were no rejects. .4t the trial 53 ballot papers only were produced,

28 for the respohd:nt and 15 for the petitioner. The recapitulation sheet
shows that at the end of the recount therc were 4 rejected ballot papers.
These werc not produced and there was no cxplanation for their absence.

The petitioner's claim at this station could n:st, therefore, be considered.

Polling Station No.51B = St. Toolis.

6 votes calimed.

The presiding officer and the poll clerk gave evidence. The
presiding officer, Gloria Boothe, a clerk, said that 42 ballot papers
were counted at the'polling station with 4 votes for the respondent,

35 for thc petitioner and 3 rejected ballot papers. Lt the trial L
ballot papers were produced for the respondent, 29 for the petitioner
and 9 rejeeted. Of the 9 rejected, 6 had double votes. The returning
officer said he rejected these at the final count.
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The prestding officer idemedfded her inieials on the 9
rejected ballot papers. She said she saw no ballot paper at the count
she conducted with more than one cross on ite. When asked to pick out,
if she could, from the 9 rejected ballot papers these rejected by her,
she picked out 3 (marked "G.B.1'" at the trial). She, however, identified
2 others (marked "G.B.2") as also among those she rejected though she had
rejected only 3. In the first 3 she identified therce were 2 with double
votes. The balance of 4 ballot papers with double votes (apart from
ug,.B.1" and "G.B.2") have crosses in the respondent's section which are
consistent with each other in character - there are 2 looped crosses.
These crosses are consistent in character with questioncd crosses at
other polling stations and on each ballot paper the cross in the respondent's
section is different in character from the cross made in the petitioner's
section.

The presiding offieer was a wewy poor witness. She was proved
to be untruthful about an incident in which it was alleged that one of
the petitioner's supporters, Mr. Carlton Lewis, was in an adjoining court
room coaching the petitioner's witnesses while they waited to be called
to give evidence. The poll elerk, Olga Wright, a teacher, could not
remember most things and added nothing to the presiding officer's
evidence. Both werc thoroughly negligent in the writing up of the poll
book. Neither, it seems to me, should have been appointed electoral
officers.

The 2 rejected ballot papers with double votes identified
by the presiding officer (in "G.B.1") had the 2 crosscs in the respondent's
section consistent in character and each inconsistent with the cross in
the petitioner's section. They appear, along with the L4 others with
double votes, to have been tampered with. In view, however, of the poor
quality of the evidence, the fact that the presiding officer was un-
certain abouf the ballot papers she rejected and, what is moreimportant,
the fact that she positively identified 2 ballot papers with double votes,
I am not satisfiecd that the petitioner's claim to the 6, or any, votes
has been established. The 6 ballot papers will go towards the

alternative ¢lainm.
s ./POlling
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Pollig§ Stfﬁion No. 53 = Harmons.

e

6 votes claimed.

The presiding officer was Rupert Easy, a preacher. He was one
of the persons whom the returning officer said were paid from thco petitioner'es
constituency fund. There was no indication during his evidence that he
was biased. He was a difficult witness, he misunderstood many of the
questions asked. The poll clerk, Lucy Morris, a dressmaker, also pave
evidence. She was a witness of poer quality. Pastor Easy's duties in
relation to the completion of the poll book were inefficiently done. He

admitted that in relation to this he did not have the proper understandinga

The electoral officers gave evidence that at the polling
station 78 ballot papers were counted, with 23 votes going to the
respondent and 55 to the petitioner. There were no rejected ballot papers.
78 ballot papers were produced at the trial, 23 being for the respondent,
48 for the petitioner and 7 rejecteds 6 of these 7 ballot papers have
double votes. The returning officer said he rejected then at the final
count. The presiding officer and the poll clerk said that at the c¢ount
at the polling station they did not sec any ballot paper with a cross
made on it for each candidate. The presiding officer identified his
initials on the 7 ballot papers.

The ballot paper rejected which did not have a double vote
was marked "R.E.1" at the trial. The presiding officer said he remembered
seeinz that ballot paper when he was counting. The only mark on it is
against the petitioner's symbol and is n.t a simple cross hut has three
lines crossing, & sorf of double cross in one. As there were no rejected
ballot papers at the preliminary count this must have been ccunted for
the petitioner. The returning officer said he would not have rejected
this ballot paper so, presumably, it was rejected at the recount.

The presiding officer said that while he was counting he saw
one ballot paper with two crosses but both crosses were in favour of the
same candidate, he did not remeuber which. He was shown the 7 rejected
ballot papers and said he did not see that ballot among them. In oross—
examinaticn he was shéwn the ballots for the petitioner and the regpondent
but said he 4id not sec amonyg them the ballot paper with the two crosscs
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for the same candidate. A ballot paper was taken from among the 6
rejected with double votes and shown to him (it was marked YR.E.27).

He was asked if that was the ballcot paper with the two crosses which he
saw. He sazaid it was noiithe one he saw had no cross for the other
candidatec., This ballot paper which was shown to him, has on it a cross
against the petitiuner's symbol and a large mark in the respondent!s
section and extending above it. This mark is not a simple cross but has
two parallel lines with a therd line crossing beth thus having the form
of two crosses joined. The witness insisted that he had nct scen this
ballot paper during his count. He was asked tc cover the cross in the
petitioner!s section leaving the mark in the respondent's scction and
asked to say whether (without the cross in the petitioner's section)
that was the ballot paper he saw. He said it was the "very one and it
was counted for the respondent. He said he would not regard it in its
present condition as a good vote for the respondent and when asked the
question: "Somebody spoilt it?" he answered: '"Must have been,’

On the remaining 5 rejected ballot papers, the crosses in the
respondent's section on 3 of them are clearly different in character fron
those against the petitioner's symbol. One of the crosses in the
respondent's section has the familiar loop. Of the 6 with double votes
(including "R.E.2"), the crosses in the respondent's section on 3 are
sinilar in character and appear to have been made by the same hand using
the same pencil, while the other 3, though different in character tu the
first 3, are similar in character the one to the other and also appear
to heve been made by the same hand though a different hand to the first
3. 411 6 appear clearly to have been tampercd with, being originally
good votes for the petitioner. But should I disallow them, or some of
them, becausc of Pastor Easy's evidence about "R.E.1" and “R.E.2"7

By saying he did not see among the 7 rejected ballot papcers the
one with two crosses which he sow during his count end that "R.E.2I was
that ballot (without the cross in the petitioner's section) he was quite
clearly saying that "R.E.1" was not it. I am, however, satisfied that
WR.E.2% was not that ballot and that Pastor Basy is mistaken. He said
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he had counted "R.E.2" for the respondent. If this is true and it was
subsequently rejected the respondent's votes would have been reduced,
but it was not. Both at the final count and the rccount the respondent's
votes remained at 23, the amount he obtained at the preliminary count.
The petitioner's votes were, however, reduced by 7 votes, the amount of
the rejected ballot papers, Further, as I have said, the mark on "R.E.2"
in the respondent's section is similar in character to the questioned
erosses on 2 of the other 5 ballcot papers with double votes while the
cross against the petitioner's symbol was crudely made - each stroke of
the cross was thickened by being marked over with about three lines. I
an in no doubt at all that this crudely made cross was made by an elector.
This is one of the many ballot papers which I saw on which the evidence
of tampering stands out. The double cross in the respondent's section,
like the questioned crosses on the other 5 ballots, were all smoothly
made, obviously by a trained and steady hand. T belleve TRL.E.1Y is the
ballot with two crosses that Pastor Easy saw. The mark on it is not
though :

unlike the questioned mark on "R.E.2" in forqéthey are otherwise
different. On close examination the mark on "R.E.1" can be said to be
two separate crosses with tB® lines intermixed while that on R.,E.2" is
definitely 2 parallel lines with a third crossing them.

It was submitted that the presiding officer, Pastor Easy, was
a generally wunreliable witmess with a faulty recollection. I agree that
he was not the best of witnesses but I have no reason for disbelieving
him and the poll clerk that there were nc ballot papers counted at the
polling station with a cross for each candidate. Besides, the evidence
of tampering is clear on the face of the ballot papers. T am satisfied
that the 6 ballot papers were validly marked for the netitioner, were
counted for him at the preliminary count and were subsequently tampered

with. I award them to him.

Pollinz Station No. 55 = Reeves Wood

4 votes claimed.
The poll clerk, Ivy Lopez, a housewife, gave evidence as well
as the petitioner's agent Ivy Williams. They said that & total of 127

ballot papers were counted at the polling station - there were 86 votes
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for the respondent, 39 for the petitioner and 2 rejected ballot papers.

At the trial the ballot papers produced showed 85, 33 and 9 respectively.
Of the 9 rejected ballot papers 4 had double votes. The poll clerk
identified the presiding officer's initials o= the rejected ballot papers
but she did not remember what were the marks on the 2 ballot papers which
were rcjected at the preliminary count. -Nor could she remember whether
she saw any ballot paper there with a cross for eaeh candidate.

The petitioner's agent said that she saw no ballot with a
cross for each candidate. In cross-examination she was shown 3 ballot
papers from among the rejected ballot papers which were, obviously,
genuinely marked by electors. She said she did not sec two of them at
the count at the polling station and the third she wos not sure whether or
not she saw it,

The 4 ballot papers with double votes had all the characterigtice
of having been taupered with. In view, however, of the poll clerk!'s un-
certainty about ballot papers with double votes T cannot safely award these
to the petitioner. Aipart from the agent's defective memory, she would
obvicusly be biased. I am not prepared to rely on her evidence alone.

These 4 ballots should, however, go towards the altornative clainm.

Polling 3tation No. 57 = Broadleaf

6 votes claimed.

The witness called was the poll clerk, Cephas King, a minister
of :e;igion. The presiding officer at this station was a Rev. Mr. Berry.
Mr. King said that 116 ballot papers were counted at the station,vwith 57
votes for the respondent and 59 for the petitioner. There werc no
rejected ballot papers. it the final count and the recount the figures
were 57 and 51 respectively, and there werec 8 rejected ballot papers. Of
the ballot papers rcjected, the cross made for the petitioner on 2 of them
was in ink and were valid rejects (these were marked “C.K.4" at the trial).
A third ballot paper had a cross in pencil =against the petitioner's
synmbol and a circle in pencil in the rcspondent's section (it was marked
M0.K.3" at the trial.) These 3 ballot papers are not in issue and are not
elaimed. The balance of 5 have double votes and are claimed. The
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returning officer said he rejected these along with the other 3 at the
final count. The presiding officer's initials on all 8 ballot papers
were satisfactorily identified by the poll clerk. He said he did not
see any ballot paper with a cross for ecach candidate during the count at
the polling station.

At the trial, 2 of the 5 ballot papers with double votes were
mar<ed together as "C.K.1" and the other 3 were marked together as "C.K.2".
One of the ballot papers in "C.K.1" had 3 erosses ip addition to the
cross to the right of the petitioner's symbol., 2 of the 3 crosses were
in the respondent's section and one in the petitioner's. The cross to
the right of the petitioner's symbol is completely and unmistakably
different and out of character with the other 3 crosses on the ballot
paper. The other ballot paper in "C.K.1", in addition to the cross to
right of the petitioner's symbol, has a cross in the rcspondent's section
which is eompletely eonsistent in ehawaeter with the questioned crosses
on the first ballot paper in "C.K.1" and, in fact, is identical with one
of them. In addition, on this second ballot paper in FIC.K.1" therc are
2 marks, crescent shaped, one on cither side of the figure "2" in the
petitioner's section. These marks appear to have been made by the same
hand as made the questioned cross on this ballot paper.

0f the 3 ballot papers in "C.K.2", there are 2 with crosses
in the respondent!s section and these erosses are consistent in character
with the questioned crosses on the ballot papers in "C.X.1%, Thc cross
in the respondent's section on each of these 2 ballot papers in "C.K.2" is
completely inconsistent in character with the cross made to the right of
the petitiovner's symbol on each ballot paper. The third ballot paper in
1¢,K.2" has a c¢ross in the respondent's section which is not like the
other questioned crosses in "C.K.1" and “C.K.2" and may have becn made
by a different hand from theirs.

Mr. King proved to be a person of poor intelligencg. He was.
however, more stupid than dishonest. He was actually ‘carried” by the
prealding officer when it came to the performance of his duties. He
admitted that all his duties in relation to the keeping of the poll book
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were done by the presiding officer, his brgther minister. In examination-
jn~chief he said he did not see the ballot paper "C.K,3 at the preliminary
count. s this had a circle in the space for the respondent which may
have got there subsequent to the preliminary c¢ount he may well have meant
that he did not see the ballot paper in that condition as scveral others
said during their evidence. 1In cross-examination Be was asked whether he
had seen the 2 ballot papers marked ng. K. 4" which had crosses in ink.

He identified the presiding officemis imé®ials on them and said he had
scen them when they were counting; then he said that he did not remember
sccing them and that they were not there, at the counting; then when

asked to explain the Rev. Berry's jnitials on them if they were not therc
on clection day, he said that the ink narks were not on the ballot papers.
Finally, when asked whether the 8 rejected ballot papcers werc the very
ballot papcrs he saw at the polling station he said ilthe initials but not
the morks.’

In spite of lMr. King's faulty recollection and making allowance
for his short-comings in intelligence, T believe that he spoke the truth
when he said there were no ballot papers with double votes counted at the
pollingz staticn. The evidence of tampering on the 5 ballot papers is too
plain to admit of any doubt. I find that the 5 ballot popers with double
votes were validly casf for the petitiovner, were counted as geood votes for
him at the preliminary count and were subsequently tampered with., I award

them to him.

Polling Station No. 58B = Ramble

4 votes claimed.

The poll eclerik, Beverley Brown, a shopkeeper, gave evidencea.
She said that 32 ballot papers were counted at the polling station, with
14 votes for the respondent and 18 for the petitivner. There were no
rejected ballot papers. 4t the trial the ballot pajers nroduced were 14
for the respondent, 14 for the petitioner and Ik wejectede The returning
officer said he rejected these L4 at the final count because each had double
votes.

The poll clerk, though saying that she saw no hallot paper
during the preliminary count with a cross for cach candidate, failed'to

rejected

jdentify the 4/ballot papers as being among those at the polling station.
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She said sﬁe d4d not know the presiding officer's handwriting.

Thékindoor agent for the petitioner at this polling station,
Ruby King, was called to supply the evidence of identification of the
ballots. She said she saw the presiding officer write her initials on
the L4 ballot papers. I am, however, not prepared to accept her evidence
alone to supply this necessary ingredient of the petiticner's claim.
A poll clerk would have much more opportunity of sceing a presiding
officer write and I have regarded evidence from this souree as sufficient.
A candidate's agent would hardly pe paying attention to a presiding
officer's writing. This agent did not even remember if a poll book was
written up by thc poll clerk. 1In any event, thcre is too much risk of
the evidence being given purely to accommodate the petitioner's case and
not because the agent had any recollection of thc presiding officer's
initials.

Tvidence of tampering is present on the 4 ballots claimed.
On 3 of them the crosses in the respondent's scetion are similar in
character the onc to the others and each of them is different in character
from the cross beside the petiticner's symbol on eache. fThey will be taken

into account on the alternative claim, if nccessary.

Polling Station No. 614 - Scott's Pass

3 votes clained,

The claim for this polling station was not established. The
only witness called was the petitioner's indocor agent, Hazel Livingston.
She said that 21 votes were counted for the respondent and 28 for the
petitioner. There were no rejected ballot papers., The ballot papers
produced at the trial showed 21 votes for the respondent, 25 for the
petitioner and 3 rejected ballot papers. When shown these 3 ballot
papers and asked who wreote the initials on them the witness shook her
h¢ad. She was shown the ballots cast for the respondent and said the

presiding officer, Mr. Young, wrote the initials on them. When asked

jen
Fore

who wrote the initials on the ballots for the petitioner she said she
not know. She was again shown the 3 rejected ballot papers and then
said, aftcer she looked at them for several minutes, that the initials
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"look like'" Mr. Young wrote them. No wonder she could not identify the
jnitials as they 'were written in script. This witness did not even know
the Christian name of the presiding officer or the initial of that
namec.

There was evidence of tampering on the-B ballot papers so I

place them towards the alternative claim.

Polling Station No. 65 - Porus

3 votes claimed.

The presiding officer, innette Powell, & teacher, gave evidence.
Louise Butler, the petitioner's indoor agent also gave evidence. Mrs.
Powell was a very intelligent and impressive witness. The evidence proved
that at the count conducted by her therec werc 55 votes for the respondent
and 19 for the petitioner. There were no rejected ballot papers. The
returning officer said that at the finnl count he awarded 55 votes to
the respondent, 16 to the petitioner and rejected 3 ballot papers brorom
of double votes.

Mrs. Powell swore that during her preliminary count she saw
no ballot paper with a cross for cach candidate. She identified her
initials on the 3 ballot papers.

The evidence of tamvpering on the 3 ballot papers is cleor.
Each of the crosses in the respondent's section is the familiar looped
cross. On one ballot paper there are two such orosses. Thes¢ crosses
are different in character from the cross on each against the petitioner's
symbol. A4part from the form of the crosses, the point of the pencil
making the crosses in the respondent's section was broad while each of
the crosses for the petitioner was made with a fine point. There can be
no doubt at all about thesc ballot papersa

I find that the 3 ballot papers werc validly cast for the
petitioner, were counted as good votes for him at the polling station

and subsequently *ampercd with., I award them to hime

Polling Station No. 68 = 0ld Porus

5 votes claimed.
The oresiding officer, Virginia Siddon, a housewife, gave

evidence. She said she counted a total of 69 ballot popers token from

&
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the ballot box at her station. She said there werc 53 votes for the
respondent, 16 for the petitioner and 1 spoilt ballote There was no
rcjected ballots 1In cross-examination she said that the spoilt ballot
was included in the 69 taken from the ballot box and countcd among. the
53 votes for the respondent, but she put it in a sceparate envelope. She
said she awarded the spailt ballot to the rcespondent because it was cast
for him. The witness was, obviously, confused as between a rcjected ballot
and a spoilt ballot. She said that she found out thc spoilt ballot when
she was counting; that the cross was not crosscd 28 it should. She said
that she calls a spoilt bhallot "one that is not properly marked! while
she calls a rejected ballot "one that has more than one mark,’

The figures given for the final count by the rcturning officer
were 54 votes for the respondent, 11 for the petitioner and 5 rejected
ballot papers, which he rejected because of double votes. He gave the
figures for the magisterial recount as 53, 10 and 6 respectively. He
could not explain the differencc of one ballot betwecn his count and the
otherse.

Mrs. Siddon identificd her signature on each of the 6 rejected
ballot papers. She said she saw no ballot paper during .hcr count with
a eross on it for cach candidate; that she did not sce any of the 5
which have double votes with more than one cross during the count.

The rejeccted ballot paper which is not in issuc has one oross
only for the petitioner, made partly in pencil and nartly in ink. It
was, no doubt, rejected for this purposee. Fach of the 5 with double
votes has a cross to the right of the petitioner's symbol. On Lk of them
the cross for the petitioner is marked with an unsteady hand, and is
different in character from the cross in the respondent's section. On the
fifth ballot paper, there is a clearly marked cruss against the petitioner's
symbol with 3 additional crosses on the ballot paper - 2 in the section
for the petitioner and one in the space for the respondent, These 3
crosses are all looped and correspond with a similarly looped cross on
one of the other 4 ballot papers.

Suggestions were made to Mrs. Siddon that shc was associated
with the petitioner in election campaigns for his party, that he has

offered to help her finish the unfinished house which she admitted having:
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and that at one time she kept lumber belonging to the Housing Department.
All thesc she firmly denied. The returning officer, however, swore that
she was paid by him from the petiticner's constituency fund. BShe
admitted that her husband is 2 supporter of the petitionerts party and
she was probably biased. She, however, impressed me as being a truthful
witnesse 1In any cvent, there is convincing evidencc on the foce of the
ballot papers that they were tanpered with and when this is taken with
hep cvidence I have no doubt that they werc.

T find that the 5 ballots claimed were validly cast for the
petitioner, were counted as good votes for him at the preliminary count

and were subscquently tampered with. I award them to him,

pPolling Station No. 694 - Coffee Grove

4 votes claimed.

The poll clerk, Pauline Powell, a student, gave evidence. She
said that the total ballot papers countcd at the close of the polls was
49 « 22 votes were awarded to the rcespondent and 27 to the petitioner.
No ballot papers were rejected. She said that she daid not, during the
count, sec any ballot paper with more than onec cross on the ballot paper.
At the final count and the recount the figurcs were - 22 votcs for the
resPOﬁdent, 23 for the petitioner and 4 rejected ballot papcrse The
returning officer said that he rejected the L ballot papers becouse each
had a double vote.

Miss Powell was shown the rejected ballot papcrs but did not
jdentify them as being among those counted at the polling station. Shc
s2id that there were no initials on the ballot papers counted at the
polling station when they were being\counted. In respect of the b
rcjected bhallot papers, she said she did not remember secing the initials
1D,D.! on them on election daye. The name of the presiding officer was
Dorrel Daley.

The petitioner's indoor agent, Linette Lewis, zave cvidence.
She said that when the ballot papers were counted they had Dorrel
Daley's initials on them. She said she saw him place his initials
on them after each person came in to place his or her vote. When
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shown the rejacged ballot papers she saids BI seg Hre. Daleyts initials
on all of them."
For the reasons already given in respect of other cases where
the only witness identifying rejected ballot papers is the agent of the
petitioner, I am not prepared to accept the evidence of identification
in this case., There is clear evidence of tampering on the face of the
ballot papers. While I ¢aunnot award them to the petiticney because of
lack of sufficient evidence of identification I will »lace them towards

the alternative claim.

Polling Station No. 70 = Porus

6 votes claimed.

Eva Denton, a dressmaker, was the presiding officer at this
station and gave evidence. She said that 76 ballot papers were counted
by her at the close of the poll, There were 36 vofes for the respondent,
39 for the petitioner and L pejected ballot paper. .t the finzal count
and the recount 36 votes were awarded to the rcspondent, 3% to the
petitioner, with 7 ballot papers rejected. The recturning officer said
that he rejected these 7 at the final count apd 6 of them then had double
votes.

Mrs. Denton satisfactorily identified her initials on the
rejected ballot papers. She said that at the gount at the polling
station she did not see any ballot paper with a cross for cach candidate
and no such ballot paper came from the ballot box. When shown the 7
ballot papers she identified the one she rejected. This is not in issue.
She said that sh: saw no ballot paper at her count marked likce the 6
ballot papers with double votes; had she seen any, she said, she would
have rejected it. She prepared a certificate of the prelinminary count
of the poll, which was signed by herself, the poll c¢lerk and the two in-
door agents. A copy of this certificate was produccd and supported the
witnesst evidence on the figures she gave.

The 6 ballot papcrs claimed were undoubtedly tamnercd with.

The crosses on the bhallot papers'which arc questioned are all consistent
in character with each other and inconsistent with the crosses made against
the petitioner's symbol. In 2 of them the crosses for the petitioner

were made with an unsteady hand in contrast to the questicnced crosses
+ o0 o/‘/\’hich



which were smoothly made. On 2 of the ballot papers therec are 2
éuestioned crosses, one in the respondent's section and one in the
petitionert's. On one of them there are 5 such crosses = a large one in
the respondent'é section and 2 in the petitioner!s, It is utterly
ridiculous to suggest that all the crosses on this ballot were made by
an elector who wished to '"plwus out Manley."

Mrs. Denton impressed me as a perfectly honest and truthful
witness. She admitted gquite readily that she had been a member of the
petitioner's political party and that branch meetings had been held at
her home. She, however, said that she had given up politics for the
Church since 1969. It was suggested to her that she was actively in-
volved in politics up to the day before the last clection. She denied
it and no evidence was brought tc contradict her. She was an intelligent
witness. She said she has been employed as an electoral officer in one
sapacl$y or another simce 194k, No dowbi as a result of this experience,
the duties at this polling station werc efficicntly earried out.

I am satisfied that the 6 ballots claimed were validly cast
for the petitioner, were properly counted by the ﬁresiding officer as
good votes for him and were subscquently tampered with, I so find and

award them to the petitioner.

Polling Station No. 71 - Porus

2 votes claimed.

The poll clerk, Adina Walker, a housewife, gave evidence.
She said that at the closec of the poll a total of 114 ballot papers were
taken from the ballot box and counted. 72 were awarded to the respondent,
38 to the petitioner and 4 rejected. The ballot papers produced in ecourt
shéwed that at the recount 70 votes were awarded tc the rcspondent, 32
to the petitioner and 12 werc rejected. There arc 5 ballot papers with
double votes. The returning officer said that those were among the
ballot »napers he rejected at the final count.

4 copy of the certificate of the preliminary count of the
poll was produced signed, according to the evidence, by the presiding
officer, the poll clerk and the two indoor agents. It bore out the poll

elerk's cvidence on the figures she gave. The poll clerk said that the

cm e o /'J‘fl" j finS



~80~

writing in thespace for initials'" on each of the rejected ballot papers
is Gloria Charley's, the presiding officer. In cross-examination she

said that if she saw this writing among other writing she would be un-
able to pick it out. At the end of her evidencec she said, in answer to

me ,that she knows it is Miss Charley's initials on the ballot papers shown
to her because she saw her initial them. I am prepared to accept this
evidence as satisfactory igdentificatton of the rejected ballot papers.

7 of the recjected ballot papers are not in issue. 2 of them
had properly marked crosses for the respondent but they werc made in ink.
2 others had marks for the respondent but these were rejected, apparently
because the marks were not properly made crosses. Hither of these set of
2 must have been counted by the presiding officer for the rcspondcent and
subsequently rejected, thus accounting for the reduction in his votes from
72 to 70. One of the 7 had a mark for the petitioner which was not a
properly made cross and must have been rejected beccause of this. The
remaining 2 were marked in the space for the presiding officert's initials
and are 2 of those which the respondent referred to in his evidence to
demonstrate the illiteracy of the electors.

The 5 ballot papers with double votes have all the questioned
crosses consistent in character and differing in character from the crosses
against the petiticner's symbol. On-2 of them therc arec 2 questioned
¢rosses, one each in the sections for the two candidatese On 2, the
cross against the petitioner's symbol on each was made with obvious
difficulty by an unsteady hand and is in vivid contrast with the questioned
cross which was clearly and crisply made.

Mrs. Walker was not a very bright witness but I believe her
evidence that when the Ballots were being counted she did not see any
ballot papers marked like the 5 rejected ballot papcrs shown to her, with
a cross for each candidate. I am also satisfied that these 5 ballot papers
were tampered with.

I find that the 5 ballot papers were validly cast for the
petitioner, were counted as good votes for him at the preliminary count
and were subsequently tampered with. He claimed 2 only of thesc ballots
and they are awarded to him. I place the balance of 3 towards the

alternative claim.
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Polling Station No. 72 - Blue Mountain

18 votes claimed.

The poll clerk, Sadie Sellers, a teacher, gave evidence., She
struck me as a perfectly honest witness and she must have so appeared to
others in court as she was not cross~examined., She said that the pre-

siding officer at this station, Mrs. Phigina Small, has since died.

Miss Sellers said that 182 ballot papers werc counted at the
close of the poll. The respondent was awarded 71 votes, the petitioner
108 and 3 ballot papers were rejected. She said that therc was one ballot
paper which was spoilt. It was punctured by the presiding officer, put
in the appropriate envelope and eventually locked in the ballot box with
the other documents. A copy of the certificate of the preliminar& count
of the poll, which Miss Sellers said she preparcd and was signed by the
presiding officer, the two indoor agents and herself, was put in evidence.
It supported Miss Sellers’ evidenee regarding the figures she gave.

The returning officer said that at the final count he awarded
?2 votes to the respéndent, 93 to the petitioner and rejected 17 ballot
paperse. He said that the figures for the respondent and the petitioner
were the same as his at the recount but that 18 ballot papers were re-
jected at the recount. Included in the rejected ballot papers produced
at the trial was a ballot paper (marked "S.S.1" at the trial) which I
am satisfied was the spoilt bhallot.

Miss Sellers satisfactorily identified the presiding officer's
initials on all the rejectcd ballot papers. Therc is one (marked "S.S5.2")
which is blank. This was identified as one of the 3 ballot papers
rejected at the polling station. There is another (one of two marked
“D.T.1") which has a cross for the petitioner only. This isvno longer
in issue. The other 15 rejected ballots all have double votes. The
returning officer said these were among the ballot papers he rejected.
On cne of these 15 the cross against the petitionert's symbol is made in
ink and is not now claimed. A4ipart from the blank ballot paper 735.S.2",
Miss Sellers said she was not sure which of the other 16 rejected ballot
papers (not including the spoilt ballot paper 93.3.17) were the ones

rejected by the presiding officer. She was shown the cne with the cross
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in ink against the petitioner's symbol, asked to cover the cross in
pencil in the respondent's section and to say whether or not that was
among the ballot papers rejected. She answered that she was not clear
now which were the other rejected ballot papers so she cannot say that
this was one of them.

On the balance of 14 ballot papers there are cvosses (one on
each) in the respondeng's section which are similay in character and
were obviously made by the same hand. The cross in pencil in the res-
pondent's section on the ballet paper with the cross in ink for the
petitioner was also obviously madc by the same hand that made those on
the 14 ballot papers. On 2 of the 14 (including the second ballot in
"D,T.1") there is an additional cross to the right of the respondent's
symbol. Both of these are similar and appear to have been made Dby the
same hand. On the other hand the crosses against the petitionerts symbol
on the M4 ballot paperm vary in character from paper to paper and on each
is dissimilar to the cross or crosses in the re5ponéent's section. On
5 of the ballot papers the crosses in the respondent's section are looped
These are almost identical in character to other such crosses on other
ballot papers already dealt with.

The petitioner's agent, Daniel Thompson, also gave evidence
but he was an obviously untruthful witness and no reliance could safely
be placed on anything he said.

When asked if she saw any ballot paper taken from the ballot
box at her station with more than one cross i.e. a cross for cach can-
didate, Miss Sellers answered: "Not that I can remember." She said she
would have rejected such a ballot paper. Though this answer which she
gave was not as positive as it should be, on scrutiny of the ballot
papers the evidence of tampering is so outstanding that when taken to-
gether with the ¢lear inference to be drawn from a compgprison of the
figures, I am in no doubt that these 1% rejected ballot papers were
originally cast for the petitioner, were counted as good votes for him
by the presiding officer and werc subsequently tampered with. I have no
hesitation in awzrding them to him.
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In sumpary the votes awarded to the petitioner are as
follows: Polling station No.11 - 4, No,13 = nil, No.14 - nil,
No.17 - 15, No. 23 = nil, No.24k = nil, No.29B - 5, N0.29C = 5, No.30i-nil,
No.30B = 3, Nou31 - nil, No.32 - 1, No.33 = k4, No. 34 = 5, No. 35 - 12,

No. 38 - 8, No.41 - 7, No. 42i - 5, No.42B = 8, No. 42C - nil, No.k2D-1,

No.43 = 1, No.4h - nil, No.48 - 4, No.49 - 7, No.50 - nil, No.51B - nil,

No.53 = 6, N0.55 = nil, No.57 = 5, No.58B = nil, No.6li - nil, No.b5 =3,
No.68 = 5, No.694 = nil, No.70 = 6, No. 71 = 2 and No.72 - 1k. 4 total
of 136 votes.

The ballot papers placed towards the alternative claim are:
Polling station No.1k -4, No.23 = 15, No.24 - 9, No.304 - 5, No.30B - 1,‘
No.38 = 1, No.4k2D - 6, No.51B - 6, No.55 - 4, No.58B - 4, No.61li - 3,

No.694 = 4, and No.71 - 3. 4 total of 65.

It was submitted for the respondent that on a scrutiny.of the
ballot papers for the purpose of determining which party had a majoriﬁj
of lawful votes the respondent is entitled to claim that the petitioner
did not have the majority on the grounds, inter alia, (a) that the votes
previously awarded to the petitioner include votes which ought properly
to have been rejected and that his total number of votes should be re-
duced accordingly, and (b) that in addition to the votes awarded to the
respondent there are other votes which should have been awarded to him
but which were improperly rejected. On behalf of the petitioner, if was
submitted that the respondent should not be able to claim additional
votes for himself and the rejection of the petitiocner!s votes unless the
claim is wmade in writing.

In the United Kingdom, when a scrutiny is ordered by the Court
anc takes place the disputed ballot papers are set aside for the
determination of the court. Fach side then makes a list of the ballot
papers which it objects to or claims to be added. These lists must be
delivered to the court bLefore the hearing and a party cannot vary his
list without the consent of the court. At the trial of the petition
votes may be struck off or added. Formerly, scrutiny took place at the
trial of the election petiticn (see Renfrew (1874) 2 0'M.& H.213). If

appears that when this was done claims to additional ballots could be
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made then. The acts complained of in this petition involve a scrutiny
of bailot papers and it is on this basis that the respondent seeks to
deprive the petitioner of votes previously awarded to him and claims
additional votes. On the authorities, it seens that he is able to do
this. It is my opinion, however, that the claims and objection are
limited to ballot papers which are in issue. This is not a case of a
general serutiny.where all the ballot papers cast at the election in the
constituency are being reviéwed. If is not a recount. The petitioner
has specified the polling Statians and the ballot papers from them
which it is alleged were tampered with and which he claims gave him a
majority of the lawful votes. vThe allegations are confined to the re-
jected ballot papers and, in my judgment, only these are in issue. It
was open to the respondeﬁt-to make a cross complaint under s.ll of the
Eleqtion Petitions Law claiming additional votes and objecting to votes
awarded to‘tﬂe petitioner; He could then have claimed or objgcted to any
ballot paper cast at the election which he specified. There is no
cress complaint so the area in which the respondent may claim or object
is limited as I have indicated.

It was contended that 8 ballot papers (marked n,,C.5" at the
trial) awarded to the petitioner from polling station No. 14 should be
disallowed on the ground that they had writings on the back of them
which provided a means of identifying the voters and should have been
rejected. These ballot papers were taken from among the petitioner's
ballot papers and shown to the poll clerk, innabelle Clarke, during
cross~examination. She agreed that there‘are numbers written on the
backs of the ballot papers. On one there were, in addition, the letters
WN.F." and on another "N. Forbes.'" There are 10 ballot papers émong
those awarded to the respondent with similar writings but it is said
that though I have power to reject the petitioner's I cannot reject the
respondent!s. The presiding officer at this polling station was
Nicanor Forbes. I was referrcd to s.51(2)(d) of the Representation
of the People Law which directs that ballot papers with marks by which
an elector can be identified should be rejected. I hold that the
petitioner's ballot papers were not in issue. These ballat papers

eannot, thercfore, be objected to in the absence of a cross cumnlaint.
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In any event, on examination of the writings I am satisfied that it was
the presiding officer who wrote on the backs of the ballot paper.

Section 51(2)(d) also provides that no ballot paper shall be rejected

on acccunt of any writing, number or mark placed thercon by any presiding
officer.

The next ballot paper which it is contended should be Ais-
allowed is one from among those awarded to the petitioner at polling
station No. 33. It was marked "I.T.3" at the trial. The ground on
which T am asked to disallow it is that the poll clerk, Isabell Thompson,
to whom it was shown during cross-examination denied seeing the ballot
paper at the polling station. This ballot paper has a cross on either
side of the petitioner's symboi. The witness did not deny seeing ite.
What she said was that "it was not at the station like this, We didn't
have anything looking like this at our station." She identified the
presiding officer*s inik¢als on $hc ballot paper. I did not upderstand
the witncss to be saying that she did not see that ballot paper at all.
As I said when T decalt with the petitioner's c¢laim from this polling
station, therc was clear evidence that ballot papers from among those
awarded to the petitioner were tampered with and the additicnal cross
may well have been placed on this ballot paper when the others were being
tampered with. 1In any event this ballot paper was not in issuc.

I am also asked to disallow 2 ballot papers from polling
station No. 594 and one from polling station No.61B on the same ground
as that from polling station No. 33. The ballot papers from these
polling stations were among those introduced on behalf of the respondent

o show that there were ballot papers rejected for double votes other than
those claimed by the petitioner. These were not put in issue by the
petitiocner.

Dealing now with the claim by the respondent to be awarded votes
from ballot papers which he elaims were improperly rejected, I accept the
submission that once the votert!s intention is clear we should, in this
Country, take a liberal view of the statutory requirement (see s. 42(3)
of the Representation of the People Law, Cap. 342) that the ballot paper

should be marked with a cross. There must, however, bc a cross or a
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semblance of oﬁe (see Bloomfield v Benjamin (1945) 4 J.L.R.247)., I
approach the respondent's claim to additional votes on this basis.

I agree that the ballot paper marked "E.W.2" among the rejected
ballot papers from polling station No.13 should have been counted as a
good vote for the respondent. It clearly has a cross marked on it and
is not rendered invalid by the additional mark. The rejected ballot paper
marked "L.G.2" from polling station No.30A jis claimed. 1 regard the
mark, which has two almost parallel lines crossed by a third, as a valid
mark. The petiticner's claim to have 5 ballot papers from this polling
station awarded to him was, however, not 2llowed because the rejected
ballot papers were not sufficientky identified. TFor the same rcason the
respondent cannot be allowed the vote he claims. I agree that the
second ballot paper of the two marked "5.P.1" among the rejected ballot
papers from polling station No. 32 is a good vote for the respondent.
It has a properly made cross in the respondent's section with a mark in
the petitiocner!s section which therc was an obvious attemnpt to obliterate,
The ballot papers marked "y.M.1" and "W.M.2" among the rejected bhalloct

papers from polling station No. 4L are claimed. These cannot be

allowed because there is no proof that they were among thosc cast at the
election and, if they were, that they were marked as they now 2ppear.
The presiding officer said in evidence that he saw no ballot paper marked
like these during his count. The claim for the third ballot paper among
those marked V"E.B.1" from polling station No. L9 is allowed. The mark
is two parallel lines with other lines across them. The claim to the
last ballot paper among the three marked "G.B.1" from polling station
No.5lB is also allowed. The mark is, in effect, two crosscs joined. I
allow it in spite of the fact that the votes claimed by the petitioner
at this station were not allowed. I am satisfied from the ecvidence that
this ballot paper was cast at the polling station in its prescnt con-
djtion. Twoe votes are claimed from among the ballot papers rejected
from polling station No.55. There is no cross or the semblance of onec
on one of these. On the other there is the semblance of a cross and I
allow it. Though on the state of the evidence I could not award the
petitioner the votes he claimed from this polling station, I am satisficd

that this one that T allow to the respondent was a ballot pager validly
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cast., I also allow the first and third ballot papers of those marked
ny .30 from the rejected ballot papers from polling station Noe 71.
The first has two parallel lines crossed by two others almost parallel.
The other has a clear cross with other markings which do not, in my
opinion, invalidate the ballot. Claims were made in respect of ballot
papers from polling stations Nos. 61B, 64 and 69B but the ballot papers
from these polling stations were not in issue. They were introduced in
evidenece on behalf of the respondent.

The respondent is, thus, awarded an additional 7 votes which,
when added to his majority of 94 at the end of the recount by the learned
Resident Magistrate, gives him a majority of 101 votes. This majority
is, however, absorbed by the additional 136 votes awarded to the petitioner
leaving the petitioner with a final clear majority of 35 votes.

It was submitfed by Dr. Barnett for the respondent, supported
by Mr. Davis for the returning offlcer, tha} the pegitioner is not
entitled to succeed on his petition because, in the light of the evidence,
the petition fails to seek relief on any valid ground of complaint. This
submission is based on the fact that the petition . complains, in paragraph
9, that 214 ballots "were wrongly rejected by the Returning Officer and
ought properly to have been accepted by him as good and valid votes®
zast for the pétitioner. The contention is put on two grounds, It is
said, firstly, that the ground of complaint is no{ valid because the
return of the respondent was based on the result of the magisterial recount
and not of the final count by the returning officer and the ballot papers
in issue were rejected by the learned Resident Magistrate. Secondly, it
is said that the returning officer was legally bound to reject the ballot
papérs with double votes and that,in any event, no complaint was made to
him on the basis of which, assuming he had the power to do so, he could
embark upon any inquiry inta allegations of tampering with ballot papers.
In reply, Mr. Phipps contended that the pefition has been completely mis-
conceived by his opponents and that the petitioner's one and only ground
of complaint is that he had received the majority of the lawful votes
at the election. He disclaims the allegation of wrongful rejection of

ballot papers as a ground of complaint.
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As I understand the argument, it is being contended thaf in spite
of & finding -~ that ballot papers have been tampered with and that
if they had not been tampered with the petitioner would have received
the majority of lawful votes at the final count and the recount, the
petitioner is not entitled to succeed because his petition does not allege
any valid ground on which he can obtain relief. In the light of the
findings I have made, it would, obsipusly, be a gross injustice if #his
contention is allowed to prevail.

Section 8 of the Election Petitions Law provides that it shall be
sufficient that a petition shall state generally the grounds on which
the petition relies for challenging the election or return and requires
the petitioner to furnish particulars of the acts complained of as
avoiding the election or return. The criticism of the petition in the
light of the evidence is not without justification., If, as kre. Phipps
contends, the petitionert's one and only ground of complaint is that he had
received a majority of the lawful votes this should have been expressly
80 stated in the petition, but it was not. It is my opinion, however,
that the petition can be so interpreted. Paragraph 4 states that the
ballots described in paragraph 8 were proper ballots for the petitioner
when cast and when counted at the preliminary count and alleges that by the
time of the final eount they had been tampered with, resulting in their
being rejected. The petition states the majority of votes in favour of
the respondent at the end of the final count and the recount. In view of
this, of the number of ballot papers which the petition alleges were
tampered with aﬂd of the concluding words of paragraph 9 that if the
ballot papers wrongly rejected were accepted, as they ought.to have been,
the petitioner would have had a majority of 120 votes, I hold that the
real ground on which the petitioner relies for challenging the election
or return is that he had obtained a majority of the lawful votes at the
election. In my judgment, he has sugceeded in establishing this ground
and he, and not the respondent, was duly elected and ought to have been
returned. I shall so certify to the Speaker of the Housc of Representatives.

My decision on the question of costs is postponed until I have

heard argument on the matter.



